SPECIAL OPERATIONS COMBAT MEDIC COURSE

SOF MEDICINE MODULE

MOGADISHU RAID EXERCISE
Col. Cliff Cloonan, USA, MC

The “Mogadishu Raid Exercise” is designed to describe a real-world special operations mission and to use that mission to introduce a wide range of medical and medically related issues for discussion. The intent of this exercise is to introduce many of the situations that you may face in the future. It will give you an opportunity, in a time and resource rich environment, to think through what you would do so that when faced with a similar circumstance you will have a sound basis for making a decision. 

The enclosed scenario is a composite of material obtained from five different open sources, (1) A 2 March 1995 Reuter’s News Release obtained from the Internet (2) COL(ret) David H. Hackworth’s book, Hazardous Duty, Chapter 6, “Unfortunate Casualties: Somalia, 1993” (3) DeLong and Tuckey’s book, Mogadishu! Heroism and Tragedy (4) The Internet version of “Blackhawk Down” by Mark Bowden published on the World-wide Web (http://www3.phillynews.com/packages/somalia/nov16/rang16.asp) by the Philadelphia Inquirer and (5) A recently released book, titled Black Hawk Down – A Story of Modern War has been written by Mark Bowden.  A film based on this book is in the works.  The use of these materials is not intended to be an endorsement of the opinions of the authors nor does it in any way attest to the veracity the material. Because much of the material related to this raid is still classified it was necessary to use open-source materials. While the details that are presented may not be entirely accurate and some of the opinions stated might be based upon erroneous assumptions, what is presented here is intended to raise up for discussion some very real and recurring medical and medically-related issues. 

This exercise will be presented in two parts. Prior to the beginning of the first part of the exercise you will be assigned to a 5-6 man group. During this exercise you will be asked, as a group, to answer two specific questions (from those that are presented in this workbook) in an essay-type format. The essay answers must be type written and between 1 - 2 pages in length (may be single spaced, no larger than 12 point font). You will have one week to answer the questions. The first part of the exercise will consist of a two hour long presentation that is intended to present a general overview of the circumstances, environment, and tactics of the raid followed by a more specific discussion of the casualties and how they were managed. The second part of the exercise will be presented a week later. Each group will select a spokesman to present their answers during the second part of the exercise. The second part of the exercise will be four hours in length. Each group will have 7 (seven) minutes to present their answers and to take 1-2 questions. After the students have answered each question the instructor will present additional data and will bring up additional points for consideration. While there are no specific “correct” answers for these questions, groups that have researched and can support their answers/ recommendations with data will receive a better grade. While your opinions are important you should have a foundation on which to formulate your answers.

CHRONOLOGY OF U.S., UN INTERVENTION (Reuters 2 Mar 95) 

MOGADISHU - The following is a chronology of U.S. and UN military intervention in Somalia.

Dec 9, 1992 -
U.S. marines hit Mogadishu's beaches under the 



glare of television arc lights in "Operation 



Restore Hope". They fan out to stop a reign of 



terror by bandits and militiamen and end a famine 


fueled by civil war that killed 300,000 people.

Jan 15, 1993 -
At U.N.-brokered talks in Addis Ababa feuding clan 


militias sign the first of many pacts to stop 



fighting.

March 17 - 
UN suspends Addis talks after renewed clan 



fighting in port city of Kismayu.

March 28 - 
Warlords agree to set up first government since 



the 1991 fall of president Mohammed Siad Barre. 



None is formed.

May 4 - 

U.S. hands over command to the UN Operation in 



Somalia (UNOSOM), headed by retired U.S. admiral 



Jonathan Howe.

June 5 - 

Gunmen ambush Pakistani troops in Mogadishu, 



killing 24 and kidnapping five. Up to 35 Somalis 



are killed.

June 12 - 
UN forces begin assault to curb militiamen. U.S. 


AC-130 "Spectre" gunships blast buildings 




controlled by south Mogadishu warlord General 



Mohammed Farah Aideed.

June 13 - 
At least 20 Somali civilians killed in a crowd of 


anti-U.N. demonstrators by Pakistani UN troops.

June 17 - 
UNOSOM orders Aideed's arrest for killing 




Pakistani troops and launches air and ground 



assault on his stronghold. Militiamen kill five




Moroccans and one Pakistani. Hospitals report 63 



Somalis killed and 123 wounded.

July 12 - 
U.S. Cobra helicopters attack the house of an 



Aideed deputy. The International Red Cross 




estimates Somali dead at 54. Mobs kill four 




foreign journalists at the scene.

Aug 24 - 

Four hundred U.S. Army Rangers fly to Mogadishu.

Sept 5 - 

Somalis ambush Nigerian troops, killing seven.

Sept 9 - 

One Pakistani soldier killed and eight other UN 


peacekeepers wounded in clashes with militiamen. 



UN helicopters wound more than 100 and kill at 



least 16 Somalis.

Sept 25 - 
Three U.S. servicemen killed and two wounded when 


Somali gunmen shoot down a UN Black Hawk 




helicopter on routine patrol. Six peacekeepers




are injured in a ground battle. [According to a 



knowledgeable source the two helicopter pilots 



were severely burned with 40-60% TBSA burns. The 



co-pilot watched his crew chief burn to death and 


could not reach him. The two pilots returned fire 


with their sidearms as the Somalis were closing in 


when a group of local friendly Somali civilians 



surrounded them and basically saved their lives 



until they could be rescued.

Oct 3 - 

Eighteen U.S. Army Rangers and one Malaysian 



killed and 74 U.S. servicemen wounded when Somali 


militias shoot down two U.S. helicopters in




Mogadishu. The corpses of Americans are dragged 



through streets by mobs. Red Cross reports 500 



Somalis wounded and reporters see truckloads of 



dead. Somalis capture U.S. helicopter pilot 




Michael Durant and Nigerian peacekeeper.

CHRONOLOGY OF EVENTS - TASK FORCE RANGER

October 3, 1993

1300

Joint Operations Command Center intelligence brief 


indicates that top Farid Aidid lieutenants are ready 


for the picking.

1415

Task Force Ranger places section of Mogadishu off 


limits; first indications to various U.S. units 



throughout city that an operation might occur.

1530

Lead pilot gets “Irene” code word; mission begins.

1537

Task Force Ranger alerted.

For the raid each rifleman took an M-16 with seven 30 round mags and two frag grenades. The M-60 machine gunners loaded up with 600 rounds. Each man carried two one-quart canteens of water. All wore the new, experimental Ranger body armor with a front ceramic plate…about 25 pounds. One of the medics states that he was carrying his LBE/assault vest with 2 quarts of water, 210 rounds of ammo, a Kevlar vest, his CAR-15, and a 40 lb aidbag; in the aidbag and elsewhere he carried 5-6 liters of NS, numerous bandages and splints, airway equipment, and a variety of pain meds.

COL(ret) Hackworth alleges, “The Rangers didn’t [use the full body armor protection]. The leaders were worried about all the weight they would be carrying when they fast-roped down to the objective. The decision was made to go in with only half the body armor [plates] - the front half [a review of the facts reveals that this did not actually occur]. [One of the medics on the raid indicates that the decision as to how much body armor to wear was left up to the individual - he relates that he chose to wear a lightweight (“hockey-style”) helmet designed to protect the head against blunt trauma but not providing any ballistic protection and he took the ceramic plate out of his vest. It only took him about 10 seconds on the ground to dearly wish he had worn a Kevlar helmet and had left the ceramic plate in; “I will never make that mistake again,” he says.]

In his book “Hazardous Duty” COL(ret) David Hackworth relates asking task force members about what else was not carried because of concerns about weight. “Packs? I asked.

“No packs.” “Night vision gear?” “No.” No rucksacks, no smaller packs.” COL (ret) Hackworth reaches the conclusion that “They didn’t have enough ammo for a long hot firefight, let alone a night long siege. And they didn’t have night vision devices.”

1550

Ground convoy arrives in position waiting for signal 


to load prisoners.

A ground convoy of vehicles loaded with Rangers and commanded by the Ranger Commander LTC McKnight, consisting of eight HUMMV, plus LTC McKnight’s vehicle, plus three 5-ton trucks using sandbags for protection moved overland through the streets and back alleys of Mogadishu to the insertion site intending to recover the insertion team and the prisoners.

+/-1600
Insertion complete with assault forces and blockers on 

the outside doing their job; enemy fire starting to 


increase.

One of the Special Ops soldiers who were inserted by helicopter described the fast rope insertion as follows:

“Ooooh yes, sir,” [You’re sliding down pretty fast], said one guy who will never forget that drop. “You’re supposed to use your feet and your hands to clamp on quickly but it doesn’t happen. If you are lucky you land on your feet and can walk out. If you’re like me, M-60 gunner having all the extra ammo and the gun on you, I just sort of fell on the ground and someone else landed on my chest.

The first casualty occurred when the Rangers fast roped in. Ranger Blackburn lost his grip and fell from the fast rope - seventy five feet (other reports indicate a fall of about forty feet), three stories, to the ground. He landed on his back. “He was hurt real bad,” remembered one of the Rangers who saw him. “Internal bleeding, head trauma, busted his right leg and hip.” 18 y.o. Pvt. Todd Blackburn was unconscious and bleeding from the nose and ears.

The ground convoy led by Lt. Col. McKnight arrives to pick up prisoners. Ranger Blackburn is “evaluated” by Lt. Col. McKnight.

Lt. Col. McKnight recalls, “The medic tells me, “I’ve got a serious, urgent casualty. I’ve got to get him out of here.” [I] went over and took a look at Ranger Blackburn. The medic was right: He was in bad shape. So [I] decided to put him in a vehicle and send him back to the air base. [I] also ordered two more vehicles to provide an escort. [According to one knowledgeable source, Ranger Blackburn had a closed head injury with a Glasgow coma score of approximately 6, a skull fracture, multiple rib fractures, fractures of the (?L/R) femur and humerus and he had a retroperitoneal hematoma]. Reportedly he had no evidence of internal bleeding and was hemodynamically very stable, in the field, at the casualty collection point, and at the 46th Combat Support Hospital.] [Another source indicates that it was an experienced and knowledgeable medic who evaluated Blackburn - it is this source’s belief that Blackburn would have died had he not been evacuated immediately.] Pvt. Mark Good, a Ranger infantryman trained to be an EMT-Basic, worked on Blackburn. Good “inserted a tube down Blackburn’s throat [oropharyngeal airway – not an ET tube] to help him breath.”  SFC Bart Bullock (a SF medic) started an IV.  A SSG Eversmann and the two medics grabbed Blackburn under his arms, and “trying to keep his neck straight,” dragged him to the edge of the street.”  They unfolded a compact litter, placed Blackburn on the litter, and, as Sergeants Casey Joyce and Jeff McLaughlin took the front and the two medics took the back, they took off from where Blackburn had fallen toward the humvees.  They would run a few steps, put Blackburn down, shoot, then pick him up and carry him again, repeating this cycle as they ran. Loaded on the back of one of the humvees, Blackburn was evacuated.  Pvt. Good, the medic, held Blackburn’s IV with one hand, firing his rifle with the other as they made their way out of the city.

Ranger Blackburn is alive today. “The medevac vehicles ran into [hostile Somalis] and Sergeant Dominic M. Pilla, a twenty-one year old Ranger from Vineland, New Jersey, was killed fighting them off. While firing his M-60 Pilla was struck by a bullet in the forehead blowing his blood and brains onto the lap of Spec. Brad Thomas who was sitting below him in the humvee. So the brownout produced the Blackburn accident and the accident produced the medevac and the medevac got Pilla killed.” Several others were wounded. 

While loading the detainees…everything changed. Somalis around Aideed’s HQ responded to the insertion. All of a sudden Aidid’s irregulars loosed a fusillade of five RPGs [into the ground convoy]. An RPG hit one of the 5-ton trucks and exploded, shrapnel mangled the legs of SSG Dave Wilson who had been standing alongside the vehicle. A bullet struck a Sgt Scott Galentine in his left hand as he was firing his weapon, the bullet nearly amputating his left thumb. Pvt. Berendsen, while firing his M203 in the prone position, was struck by a bullet in his shoulder. A bullet that apparently ricocheted off the ground as he crouched firing behind a wrecked car struck Spec Snodgrass, a machine gunner. Pvt. Clay Othic, firing the 50 cal, was struck in the right forearm by a bullet.  Sgt Lorenzo Ruiz took his place on the gun.  A bullet struck Sgt Bill Powell in the meaty part of his calf. [The Rangers] destroyed the truck in place. The ground platoon was now down to four vehicles [full of prisoners and some wounded] and a long way from home.

1610

First notification of Cliff Wolcott’s downed 



helicopter.

Hovering overhead, providing fire support to the raid site, a Blackhawk helicopter flown by CWO Wolcott was hit in the rotor by an RPG. The bird crashed into a building and courtyard below, killing Wolcott and his copilot. The two pilots were probably killed instantly. There were four snipers on board, only two were wounded in the crash; one had facial fractures [?medic Sgt. James McMahon], the other had soft tissue injuries to his back. [F]rom the wreck two snipers [who had been on the helicopter] were firing at a growing mob of Somalis. These two, initially uninjured, snipers were shot while defending the downed aircraft. Sgt Jim Smith was shot through the meaty part of his left shoulder (under his Kevlar vest) and the other, SSG Dan Bush, sustained a GSW through the pelvis and abdomen, the bullet having entered his abdomen just under his armor plate.  While propped up against a wall outside the wrecked aircraft waiting for help to arrive he had been shot again.  COL (ret) Hackworth makes the observation in his book “Hazardous Duty” that, “The Rangers lived by a code: They would never leave one of their own behind, not dead and sure as hell not alive. I feel the same way sometimes, and other times I wonder. When you’re hauling ass and you’ve got four dead and if your are going to take twenty men to carry them, it’s better to stash them under a rock. I have had to make this bad choice twice in my life, one in Korea and once in Vietnam. Both times I chose the rock…I think the priority has to go to the living.” [One of the medics on the raid notes that a week or so before the raid a helo had been shot down and the sight of the burned bodies of the crew being dragged through the streets was fresh in the minds of all who were on the 3 October raid] The ground convoy began to work its way toward the crash site. Some of the Rangers who had been providing the raiders site security also made their way toward the crash site. An MH-6 Little Bird landed in a narrow alley and was able to extract two badly wounded crew from the crash site [the two snipers who survived the crash and had been returning fire]. [According to a knowledgeable source, the Little Bird’s pilot landed and returned fire with his MP-5 using one hand while controlling the aircraft with his other hand. The pilot loaded Dan Bush, who died later in the 46th CSH ICU from a GSW to the pelvis. The pilot had appropriately overflown the casualty collection point and taken the patient directly to the CSH.] A fifteen man CSAR element of combat troops and medics was inserted into the crash site by fast rope. During the insertion the SAR team’s Black Hawk was hit by an RPG but did not crash and the pilot held the helicopter steady while the team cleared the rope. Sgt. Fales (a medic), one of the first to reach the downed helicopter was looking inside for survivors when he felt something hit him in the left leg.  The bullet had passed through the calf – there was little pain.  Inside the downed helicopter, Sgt. James McMahon, a medic who had been aboard the aircraft when it went down, was trying to pull copilot Donovan Briley out of the wreckage; he was obviously dead.  McMahon’s face was badly cut, bruised, and swollen from the crash. Air Force Technical Sgt. Tim Wilkinson, a PJ, and SFC Bob Mabry, an SF medic, looked into the helicopter and saw movement.  It was one of the gunners, SSG Ray Dowdy, who, despite not having been seat belted in during the crash, was not only alive but was still in his collapsed seat.  Extracting Dowdy, the three of them were standing inside the helicopter when a hail of bullets came through the side of the aircraft.  Dowdy saw the tips of two fingers get shot off.  Wilkinson was hit in the face and arm (? Unknown with what) and Mabry had been hit in the hand.  Not seriously injured, Wilkinson and Mabry set about pulling the Kevlar panels out of the floor of the downed helicopter and put them up to provide cover for the casualty collection point they had created. The [SAR] team started assessing wounded and tried to move them out of the fire away from the Hawk. One of the team members recalled, “Every time someone tried to move a litter, he was shot. All we could do was return fire and keep the crowds and gunmen away.” The two surviving crew members of Wolcott’s aircraft were unconscious with soft tissue injuries - one [SSG Ray Dowdy] had a questionable pelvic fracture. While securing the crash site, members of the SAR team sustained two lower leg GSW’s, one with severe bone fragmentation and bleeding; one soldier received a GSW to the flank when a round went under his vest; another soldier received a GSW to his arm causing a fracture of the humerus; in addition to the gunshot wounds there were 4-5 fragmentation injuries from hand grenades and rocket propelled grenades - most of these were superficial soft tissue wounds of the extremities and back. Pvt. Rob Phipps and some of the other Rangers at the crash site threw fragmentation grenades toward the Somalis who were firing at them.  There was an explosion, followed by silence, and then one of the grenades that had been thrown came flying back – the Ranger who threw it had forgotten to take the safety strap off.  The explosion struck Phipps like a gut punch and sucked all the air out of him.  He felt as if he was on fire and his ears rang.  He felt a terrible burning on both his legs and back and his face was blackened and bruised.  His left leg not working, he was unable to walk and so he crawled toward medical care. It is unclear how many of the SAR team’s medical assets were wounded but apparently several of them were and these wounds certainly impaired their ability to provide medical care. The pilot who was killed was trapped inside the helicopter, so the [SAR team would not] move too far away from the craft for fear of losing the body to the gunmen or crowds. “This man was one of us and we were not leaving without him.” Finally the SAR team was forced to move the casualties into a building just south of the crash site and that building became the strongpoint for the night. The total of wounded and killed remaining in the vicinity of the crash site were 2 KIA, and 14-15 WIA, of which 2-3 were very seriously wounded. There were only two unwounded medics able to provide medical care for these casualties.

1620

Michael Durant’s helicopter is shot down about a mile 


to the south of first crash site.

After CWO Wolcott’s helicopter was downed by an RPG CWO Durant’s helicopter replaced it providing fire support. It was not long before his aircraft was also hit by an RPG and brought down. The aircraft, initially still in flying condition, went down as Durant tried to make it to safety.  The aircraft crashed into a cluster of flimsy tin huts.  The impact knocked Durant temporarily unconscious and, although the shock absorbing mechanism of the pilot seat had collapsed as designed, the crash had produced an open fracture of his right femur.  The other pilot, Ray Frank, had a broken left tibia and both had back injuries. The crew in the back, having less crash protection had been less fortunate.  Bill Cleveland, one of the crew, was all bloody and, although conscious, was babbling unintelligibly. The status of his other crewman was unknown to Durant.

1630

Ground convoy attempts to reach Wolcott crash site but 

runs into fierce Somali resistance.



10th Mountain Quick Reaction Force is summoned to 


airport to prepare to rescue trapped Rangers and downed 

helicopter crews.

As the ground convoy, led by Lt. Col. McKnight, attempted to move to the Wolcott helicopter crash site the Somalis moved in and pressed the attack. The driver of one of the humvees, a Howard Wasdin, who had been shot in the left leg back at the target house, was hit by another bullet, this time in the right leg.  Pvt. Othic, who had been shot in the right forearm while manning the 50 cal fired his M-16 from the vehicle.  Sgt Ruiz, who had taken over the 50 cal, was firing the big gun when he suddenly slumped over. One Ranger described what happened to him, “That’s when Ruiz got hit and I got shot in the shoulder. When I got hit, it knocked me out of the vehicle.” He then describes providing care to the wounded Sergeant Lorenzo Ruiz, “…I found the entrance wound on Ruiz but never found the exit wound because he had a vest on. As soon as I got his vest undone, I felt blood. Okay, this is the entrance wound. I started feeling around and I ripped his shirt open and found the entrance wound on his right side. I called for a medic because “Doc” Jenrud was working on two casualties in the street from the special teams.  A medic from the med vehicle came back and started helping with Ruiz. I don’t know if he ever got the IV started because the minute that happened an RPG [exploded nearby] and my ears haven’t stopped ringing since.” Ruiz, like many of the men, had taken the armored plates out of his vest to reduce the weight he had to carry in the African heat. Whether the plate would have saved his life is unclear. They laid [Sergeant Ruiz] where the gunner would normally stand between the seats underneath the gunner’s well.” Sergeant Ruiz had been manning the mounted machine gun and when he went down Specialist David Richie [got up there, sat on top of the vehicle, and took over firing the machine gun]. Then he got hit in the ankle.” “The incoming disabled almost all of the vehicles in the convoy… .  About then, Lt. Col. McKnight, wounded himself, decided to move with the prisoners and an increasing load of casualties back to the airfield.” At the moment he called for the exfiltration, the wounded Sergeant Ruiz was sitting up and he was saying, “I’m all right. I’m all right.” He said, “It hurts a little bit, but I’m all right.” You couldn’t really tell how bad he actually was. While the convoy was still attempting to reach the crash site it came under intense 50 cal. fire from a “technical.” Corporal Casey Joyce, one of the Rangers, grabbed an antitank weapon and put it right in the gunner’s lap. The vehicle disintegrated. Casey turned and shouted: “All right.” Then he took a hit in the back, where his body armor was AWOL. [comment by COL(ret) Hackworth]. The round ricocheted off his front armor and reentered, leaving him with a massive chest wound.” Casey wound up on the back of a cargo Humvee with a heap of wounded Rangers. “I was on top of Ranger Berendsen,” [one of the Rangers recalled] Sergeant Gallantine was over on the right side. I had Specialist Diemer on top of me with a SAW shooting. Sergeant Joyce was a little in between us. He just didn’t look right. His eyes were open but they had turned a different color.” Casey was not alive when the ground convoy finally reached the air base…” He went into shock because it took us so long to get back. Because we kept getting hit and hit and hit, he went into shock and died out there.”  As the increasingly deadly search for the Wolcott crash site continued the casualties piled up.  SSG John Burns was hit with two bullets and a volley hit PFC Rodriguez.  His body armor stopped the round that struck him in the chest, but three other bullets struck him in both thighs.  As Spec Spalding tried to carry Burns to a vehicle, he felt the sergeant get hit again by another round.

Most of the casualties took place between 1530 and 1800 hours when the Rangers and Special Ops teams were trying to consolidate at the crash site.

1635
Unable to land and provide assistance, another helicopter piloted by Mike Goffena, hovered over the Durant crash site.  Aboard the helicopter were snipers Randy Shughart and Gary Gordon, who volunteered to drop into the crash site to help fend off armed crowds. [Both Shughart and Gordon were killed by gunfire defending the wounded helicopter crew. Of all the men at the crash site only Durant would survive although he was held for 10 days by the Somalis and dragged through the streets of Mogadishu.]  Not long after dropping Shughart and Gordon off at the crash site, Super Six Two, piloted by Mike Goffena was itself hit by an RPG.  The blast almost completely ripped off Sergeant Brad Hallings’ lower (?L) leg.  Everyone inside the helicopter was momentarily stunned by the blast but the helicopter kept flying.  Regaining his senses Hallings noted that his severely mangled leg was bleeding briskly – a medic onboard seemed stunned and overwhelmed by the magnitude of the wound and kept trying to find the materials to start an IV despite Hallings repeated request that a tourniquet be applied to stop the bleeding.  Finally Sgt Hallings got a belt and applied it as a tourniquet himself.  The helicopter limped to a safe landing site and landed safely despite having had the right main landing wheel blown off.  Surgeons were unable to save his shattered limb and Hallings became the only casualty of the raid to require a major amputation (despite this he was able to remain on active duty). 

1700

Unsuccessful rescue mission returns to airfield.

Finally abandoning its efforts to reach the Wolcott crash site, the convoy had to shoot its way out crashing through road blocks and driving over obstacles, taking fire the whole way. The prisoners were in the back of the vehicles, along with some of the wounded Rangers. As the convoy moved out a hail of RPGs hit it.  In the convoy, PFC Carlson was wedged in the rear of one of the humvees.  Behind him, shooting out the rear of the vehicle was Spec. Telscher, who had been injured fast roping in, the wounded Rodriguez, and Delta SGM “Griz” Martin. Carlson heard a grenade explode and the inside of his vehicle was filled with smoke.  The goggles he had pinned to the top of his helmet were blown off. The blast blew Rodriguez, Telscher and Martin out of the back of the moving vehicle.  It ripped the hand guards off Sgt McLaughlin’s M-16 and pierced his left forearm with shrapnel.  Carlson’s left arm was bloody where shrapnel had pierced it.  His boots were on fire.  The explosion had blown off the back of Rodriguez’s left thigh (photo available) and had practically torn Martin in half.  Telscher, Rodriguez and Martin lay writhing in the road.  As Rodriguez struggled to his feet, both legs a mass of gore, he was run over by a 5 ton driven by Pvt. John Maddox who had been stunned and temporarily disoriented by another grenade blast [amazingly enough, Rodriguez survived]. Ed Kallman, driving one of the humvees in the convoy, saw the RPG coming that hit his vehicle.  He awoke lying on his right side with his ears ringing.  The grenade had hit his door and he had been saved by a combination of the metal door and the bullet-resistant glass inside it.  Because the window was rolled down, the grenade hit first steel and then reinforced glass.  Up in the turrent of one of the humvees, Spec James Cavaco was firing a Mark 19 grenade launcher when he suddenly slumped forward dead, a bullet having struck him in the back of the head.  Sgt Paul Leonard took over firing the gun and not long after was himself struck by a bullet in the left leg just below the knee splattering all of the men in the humvee with blood and tissue.  Leonard kept on firing as one of the Rangers tied a tourniquet around his leg. Spec. Eric Spalding, firing from the window of one of the trucks, felt a sharp pain in his right leg and looked down. He recalls what happened, “I was firing…and [a round] came through the door [and bullet resistant window which was rolled down] and hit me in the (right)leg, another came through the same door and hit me in the (left) knee.” There was a perfectly round hole in his left knee, but no exit wound.  The bullet had fragmented on impact with the door and glass and only the metal jacket had penetrated the knee. The rest of the bullet had peppered his lower leg.  “At that point, my driver [Pvt. Maddox] started screaming, ‘I can’t see!’ …I looked over…and the driver’s glasses [were] all bowed and turned down. I’m thinking he’s just knocked his glasses off and he’s blind as a bat. Two minutes later he stopped in one of the alleys and he yells in back, “Does anybody else want to drive” I’ve been shot in the head and the leg.” The bullet went right through his K-pot at the base of his head causing a scalp laceration, brain contusion, and momentary blindness but he survived. Everyone was yelling, ‘Let’s get outta here,’ the Somalis had set up roadblocks. PFC Richard Kowalewski, also known as “Alphabet” by his friends, was driving a truck with PFC Othic wedged in the seat next to him when he was shot in the shoulder; he kept on driving. Othic was struggling to apply a pressure dressing to Kowalewski’s wound when an RPG hit the truck. A Ranger [probably Spec Aaron Hand] described what happened next, “I felt a huge jolt. My head was spinning and the cab was filled with smoke. I saw the driver and I knew he must be dead…(The rocket severed Alphabet’s left arm and imbedded itself into his torso, remaining there without exploding). It turned out my helmet and weapon had been blown out of the cab. The RPG struck just under the driver’s side window. The cone of the round had flipped up and lodged in the driver’s midsection - the propellant had filled the cab and choked us.” Othic was temporarily knocked unconscious but revived when Spec. Hand shook him awake to notify him that the truck was on fire.  Outside the vehicle, Spec. Hand found Kowalewski’s hand in the street.  Not feeling right about leaving it there he picked it up and put in the cargo pouch of Kowalewski’s BDU’s where it was reportedly found later by a nurse.  The convoy eventually made its way back to the air base.  The humvees rolled in filled with bullet and grenade holes and with tires shot out.  One, dragging an axle, was pushed in by a five-ton. The back ends of many were slick with blood and chunks of viscera clung to floors and walls. During the raid one of the Rangers was hit between the eyes with a fragment. His Kevlar was knocked back and his eyes watered for a few seconds. He wiped his brow with the back of his hand and saw a couple of drops of blood. He thought little of it at the time and went back to fighting. A day or two after the raid he was medically evaluated and a skull film revealed a metallic fragment lodged about 7 cm inside his brain. Although he had been initially asymptomatic he was started on an anti-convulsant and evacuated to Germany; enroute to Germany he developed seizures and he later developed an intracerebral abscess but he survived.

1715

Hastily assembled Ranger rescue team takes off for 


Wolcott crash site and encounters furious resistance. 

No more than 80 yards out of the gate of the compound the rescue team encountered heavy enemy fire. The trucks became trapped in the narrow streets and came under constant attack from hasty ambushes. Sgt. Raleigh Cash, providing security from outside, was hit square in the chest by a bullet that almost knocked him over.  He ran his hand inside his shirt feeling for blood.  There was none.  The bullet had skimmed off the front of his chest plate, tearing the straps of his LBE so that it hung by a few threads.  Unable to make it to the crash site the rescue convoy, quite by accident, met up with Col. McKnight’s lost convoy at one of the major traffic intersections as he was trying to make it back the airbase.  Together both convoys proceeded back to the base. On the way back Sgt Cash, now riding in a humvee, felt a jab in his leg and looked down thinking that he had been shot.  A bullet had poked through the metal door but had been stopped by the bullet resistant glass (the window was rolled down) which had stretched inward forming what appeared like a horizontal stalactite with a bullet in the tip.  The tip had poked Cash’s leg but had not caused any injury. Once again protective equipment had saved Cash from serious if not lethal injury.

1724

QRF arrives at airport for intense rescue planning.

1818

Ground convoy arrives at airfield where the Casualty 


Collection Point/MASF, and surgical facilities are 


located.

Back at the air base the medics came running to unload the wounded and dead. One medical sergeant describes what happened, “…somebody ran in yelling that a Humvee had been hit and it was full of wounded. I ran over and helped unload the body of one guy who looked to be about seventeen. I still had no idea what the hell was going on. A five ton pulled up and I ran over and helped them open the back of it.” “Dead bodies were stacked right on top of the wounded.” In the chaos of battle, everyone had just been thrown in there. Wounded Rangers were piled on top of dead ones, who were on top of Somali POWs, who were on top of Somali dead. We had our work cut out for us…” “Things got disorganized pretty fast. Things were getting pretty ugly. We had a guy with his head caved in. We had another go into full arrest, still another soldier with a hole blasted into his leg, started to have full pulsations of arterial blood shoot from his leg.” “What I saw then was something I was never prepared for. I reached up and helped pull a guy down. His leg and arm were blown off. He was dead. I ran and got another one. He had been hit real bad. He died on the stretcher. “When that first Humvee pulled up with injured men, there was a soldier inside screaming loudly from pain. It was clear he had a broken leg. But there was another Ranger named Blackburn in the vehicle also. He was quiet and wasn’t making any noise at all. The doctors in the triage area concentrated their efforts on the yelling soldier. It was Blackburn who had the fast-rope injury…he had jumped out of his helicopter grasping for the rope which wasn’t there and promptly dropped about forty feet into a cloud of dust…He was quiet because of severe head injuries.” [Because of Blackburn’s head injury and his inability to communicate and because of the chaos, Sgt Blackburn’s fractured left hip was missed.] “When we got to him, we realized he had a closed head injury and was getting ready to die,” remembers Dr. Adams. “He was unconscious and gurgling. We immediately cut his clothes off, suctioned his airway(s), and started IVs [? What happened to the IV that was started in the field – probably no long functional].” Another soldier, Sergeant Lorenz Ruiz from El Paso, Texas, was unconscious, but still barely alive when he was wheeled into the triage area. Immediately, a chest tube was placed into his chest…and a femoral line was placed to give him badly needed blood. Within minutes however, it was clear that the twenty-seven-year-old Ranger wasn’t going to make it, but the team kept desperately trying until the end.  “Maybe if Ruiz was the only injured soldier we saw that day and if the surgeons weren’t as terribly tied up as they were, he could have undergone the many hours of surgery it would have taken to save his life.” But Ruiz wasn’t the only one and the surgeons were terribly tied up. When Special Forces Master Sergeant Tim “Grizz” Martin arrived, his pelvis was largely missing and his close friend, Dr. Rob Marsh, knew he was going to die. Nevertheless, the Special Forces doctor wasn’t going to let his friend die without the fight he deserved. Despite the fact that MSG Martin’s injuries were not compatible with life, the team began frantic attempts to replace blood. Within minutes, the Green Beret was dead. [One source indicates that this may not be exactly correct. He indicates that MSG Martin’s injuries were not obviously incompatible with life and in fact he lived approximately 6 hours after surgery, but he died in the ICU because he continued to hemorrhage]. Twenty-five to thirty more wounded arrived to the Casualty Collection Point [CCP] within the next hour. One who appeared most severe was twenty-three-year-old Private First Class Richard Kowalewski…who wasn’t breathing and had no vital signs. Dr. Adams immediately began examining the gravely injured [dead] soldier.


“Curiously, I noticed an overwhelming smell of gunpowder as I examined him,” remembers Adams. “In addition to the smell, he had a missing left arm and leg. But another feature seemed peculiar. There was a piece of metal on both sides of his chest.”


“Then I realized what I was looking at,” continues Adams. “This obviously dead soldier had a quite live, unexploded rocket-propelled grenade embedded in his chest. The grenade had gone all the way through the right side of his chest and was just sitting there, ready to explode.” The dead soldier was immediately and gently taken out on the runway where an army bomb squad was called in. Lt. Col. Danny McKnight, the Ranger Third Battalion commander had been wounded by a piece of shrapnel which had smashed through the windshield of his Humvee…he was bleeding but not willing to spend time at such mundane activities as receiving treatment…Before long, it became clear to Dr. Adams, if not the Colonel, that [this was a] “commander problem,” something he had never been taught in medical school.


“I made a deal with him,” remembers Adams. “He wanted to get back into the thick of things very quickly and if he couldn’t, he was leaving anyway. So I told him to let me wrap his arm and give him two bags of IV fluids. Then, I would let him go.”

“After sixty minutes, everybody that was still alive was probably going to make it,” remembers chief medic Liles. “All of our more seriously injured soldiers were stabilized and sent to the Army hospital where they were placed on airplanes headed for Frankfurt, Germany, within twenty-four hours. The other soldiers, with less severe injuries, were treated and released directly from the triage area.” “The Task Force Ranger Casualty Collection Point was efficient enough that only three soldiers died that day after arriving at the collection point.” Major John Uhorachak, an army orthopedic surgeon, was one of the three doctors staffing the field hospital that day. He remembers, “…The men who died had such severe injuries they were going to die no matter what we did.”

1830

Quick Reaction Force (QRF) takes off in combat column 


for rescue effort at Durant crash site.

1900

QRF column is forced to turn back after encountering 


fierce Somali firepower.

[During a lull in the triage/resuscitation action at the airport CCP, Drs. Marsh and Adams, having received information that casualties were being transported to the Paki Stadium, decided to move to the stadium with a triage team. There they found only a few casualties, one being a Sergeant Cornell Houston from the 10th Mountain Quick Reaction Force…Pakistani doctors were already working on [him]. It was clear he had been shot in the chest. An occlusive dressing placed with good intentions over his chest caused a life threatening tension pneumothorax. It was apparent this critically wounded soldier had been over-medicated with pain medicines which were now decreasing his ability to breathe. The American rescue team took over and removed the dressing. This helped but unfortunately not enough. Within three to four days, [Houston] was dead in a German hospital. [A knowledgeable source indicates that Sgt Houston had a “sucking” chest wound with a right lower lobe pulmonary injury, and diaphragmatic, retrohepatic and superior vena cava injuries. He states that Sgt Houston was actually treated well in the field. He had survived approximately 6-8 hours with his wounds (prior to being evacuated to the hospital) and at no time did he have evidence of a tension pneumothorax. His injury was repaired with a median sternotomy and a laparotomy but he died on postop day 4 in Lansthul when a non-thoracic trained surgeon operated on him.]

1920
Element at Wolcott crash site establishes 



defense perimeter to wait for rescue force.

The Americans were able to lay down suppressing fire and move the casualties into a building just south of the crash site. In addition to the CSAR team, other Ranger and Delta elements were pinned down near the crash site.  SFC Paul Howe led a team trying to make its way to the crash site.  While moving, his team came under fire not only by the Somalis but also from a Ranger blocking position that had miss-identified them as Somalis.  Coming around a corner an RPG hit a wall near the team and a piece of shrapnel struck one of Howe’s team members in the left side.  Howe broke open the door of a house and the team went in. Howe and his men were sweating profusely and breathing heavily.  The weight of their gear was exhausting and the body armor was like wearing a wet suit.  Cutting away the wounded man’s uniform revealed a small hole in his back, with a swollen, bruised ring around it.  There was almost no blood. “You’re good to go,” said Howe.  A short distance away another group lead by Lt. Larry Perino also moved toward the crash site.  One of the group, Sgt Goodale, had just fired when he felt a stabbing pain.  His right leg seized up and he fell over backward.  A bullet had entered his right thigh and passed out, leaving a gaping exit wound in his right buttock.  Somewhat later while being treated by a medic, Goodale experienced a feeling he used to get when injured in a football game.  They carry you off the field, and you are done.  He yanked off his helmet, then saw an RPG fly past no more than six feet away and explode about 20 feet away.  He put his helmet back on.  The “game” was definitely not over.  One of the Delta NCOs with the group, Sgt Fillmore, was providing covering fire when his little “hockey-style” helmet jerked up and blood came spouting out of his head.  Struck in the head with a bullet Sgt Fillmore hit the ground dead.  Another team member grabbed him to pull him into a narrow alley and he too was hit – in the neck. PFC Peter Neathery, firing his M-60 machine gun near where Fillmore had been hit was shot in the right arm.  PFC Errico, who took over firing the M-60 was quickly shot in the arm himself. Lt. James Lechner standing behind a tin wall was struck in the lower right leg by a bullet passing through the wall.  The bottom half of the leg flopped grotesquely to one side.  A widening pool of blood formed under the leg as blood flowed from the wound as “if from a jug.” Moving to eliminate a Somali position Cpl. Jamie Smith was shot in the upper thigh. As he dropped to the ground he remarked, “I’m hit!” Not far away SSG Ken Boorn was shot in the foot and PFC Carlos Rodriguez, firing his machine gun, was shot in the crotch, the round passing through his buttock and blowing off his right testicle as it exited his upper thigh.  At the casualty collection point PJ Wilkinson stuffed wads of Curlex into Rodriquez’s wound and applied a pair of pneumatic anti-shock pants for more pressure.  The bleeding stopped. Specialist John Stebbins, while trying to neutralize a Somali position which kept firing RPGs at his position was literally blown up three times.  On the third occasion he tried to stand up and run out to get a weapon from one of the wounded men; his own having been destroyed in the explosion.  He found his left leg and foot wouldn’t work and he kept falling down.  Some other men ran out and dragged him back into the courtyard.  Wilkinson, the Air Force PJ, cut off his boot revealing a golf ball-sized chunk of metal lodged in the foot.  For the first time Stebbins realized he was wounded.  He felt no pain, just numbness.  Wilkinson treated his wound and handed him some iodized water and a Percocet for pain.  He then handed Stebbins a rifle and told him to guard a window.  Eight of the thirteen men in Lt. Perino’s Chalk One were now wounded.  At the crash site, “The eleven wounded and one dead were moved into the center of the complex,” One of the Rangers recalled, “At this point, there [were] thirty-three soldiers, not counting the dead, inside our perimeter. It [was] now roughly three hours into the fight around the aircraft and darkness [was] approaching. We were running out of ammunition, water, and medical supplies. One person went back into the crash and scavenged much of what we needed. We then recovered two sets of night vision gear from the bird and passed one set to each team. [One of the team states, “Most of us had two quarts of water, but [we] ran out quickly. We found some water in a Somali house that came from who knows where. We purified it and had no problems.]

[One of the SAR medics states that, “I gave [IV] fluids to casualties as I encountered them. I ran out quickly but we continued to sustain wounded. In hindsight, we had only two patients who [really] needed fluids…IV’s can be done later and not during initial contact. I wasted time starting IV’s. Even [the two seriously wounded patients] were well compensated until later.] A young medic remembers, “I was checking out Specialist Erico. He’d lost maybe ten ccs of blood, about as much as [a cup of coffee]. But he was still alert. No shock. I had IVs pumping fluids. Sergeant Goodale was in the back, shot in the butt. He was on the radio.” The worst wounded was a Specialist named James Smith, a warrior from New Jersey…He had sustained a gunshot wound to the upper thigh/pelvis.  The round had severed his femoral artery and vein, an extremely deadly wound. Briefly the pain was not severe but that quickly changed – arterial blood spurted from the wound and Smith was writhing in pain.  The wound was too high for a tourniquet. Two large bore IV’s were being run in and the bags were being squeezed – a pool of blood formed on the floor despite continuous direct pressure to the wound.  The SF medic briefly considered the possibility of doing a direct transfusion from another soldier but dismissed the idea. The SF medic decided that the only way to stop the bleeding was to find the severed artery and clamp it…”He told Smith to lean back, “This is going to be painful” he told Smith. “Give me some morphine for the pain Smith demanded.  “I can’t,” the medic said, concerned that the morphine would further lower his already dangerously low blood pressure.  Smith screamed as the medic reached in with both hands, tore open the entrance wound and routed around for the artery…probing through pools of bright red blood.  He couldn’t find the vessel.  It had evidently retracted up into Smith’s abdomen.  The medic stopped as Smith was lapsing into shock.  The medics ran out of IV fluids and morphine [apparently they transferred IV fluids from other patients to Specialist Smith]. [One of the medics describes having difficulty controlling the pain of some of the wounded - he states that 15 mg of morphine and 60 mg of Toradol was just barely enough to take the edge off of the pain associated with GSW’s and fractures. He also says that most of the wounded did not complain of pain initially - it took an hour or two for the adrenaline to wear off and the pain to set in.] They were giving Nubain and Tylenol No. 3 [One of the medics states that he lost his Tubex syringe [for administering his narcotics] and had to make due without it.] They held back one IV for a final emergency. [Despite holding continuous pressure over the femoral artery wound for 8-12 hours] somewhere in the night Smith died, the medic said quietly [To this day, the medics who took care of Smith have trouble talking about this experience]. “The medics were worried about Lieutenant Lechner. I was working on Sergeant Goodale. We were just sitting there waiting out the night…”

“One RTO was continuously calling fire missions with lethal accuracy…This RTO was shot in the head, the bullet grazed his helmet and snapped his head viciously, yet he continued to perform his duty.” [During the course of the battle one soldier took a direct hit to his anterior chest. He was knocked to the ground, then got up and kept on fighting. The ceramic plate front body armor had stopped the assault rifle round. Another soldier was struck in the back. His soft body armor stopped the round. He also was knocked down but got up and continued to fight. Both of these soldiers would probably have been killed had they not been wearing their body armor].

2030

Planning just about complete at airport for 




multinational rescue force that includes QRF soldiers 


aided by Malaysian and Pakistani armored vehicles and 


personnel.

2240 
Relief column including about 300 soldiers from three 


nations ready to pull out.

It took five hours to organize a relief column with enough muscle to punch through to reach them…”They were calling from the objective and they had some critical casualties who were bleeding out there because it took so long.”

2330

Relief column pulls out.

Throughout the night helicopters shuttled from the battlesite to the Forward Area Refueling Point [FARP]. “…exhausted pilots [arrived at the FARP] in quick need of fuel, food, and ammo…” In addition to the four armament technicians, the FARP was staffed by four fuel technicians and a medic. At the FARP “the ever dangerous “hot refueling” [task] where a hot, running helicopter is quickly filled with highly flammable fuel in the presence of armed rockets and a myriad of other ammunition [was carried out numerous times that night].” “Often the pilots would step out of the aircraft just long enough to relieve themselves and then set back into their cockpits,” remembers Simpson [one member of the FARP team]. “We brought food out there for them and they would sit in their aircraft and jam the food down their throats.” “…Mogadishu’s less-than-ideal climate was one more challenge for everyone. The nighttime temperatures of 90 degrees were started to take a toll on the increasingly weary pilots. The FARP crews watched as their pilots started looking more tired and sweaty. Supplying the pilots with water became more important as time went on.

2400

Two APCs with rescue troops heading for northern 



(Wolcott) crash site turn south instead and end up 


stranded after being hit by Somali RPG attack.

0150 
QRF relief column arrives at Wolcott crash site.

“It took two and half hours of stiff fighting to even get near the objective. The pinned-down Rangers [near the Wolcott crash site] knew the convoy was on the way because the fire kept getting closer and closer, but in the darkness and confusion, the relief column didn’t know where the Rangers were holed up…They reached their objective at about 0200. At the crash site it took until sunup to load the casualties. “The whole time we were taking fire.”

0300 Stranded rescuers picked up by Malaysian APCs from troops at southern (Durant) crash site.

On the way to the site some of the APCs became lost and one was hit and destroyed by RPG fire.  The 10th Mountain soldiers inside got out and rushed for cover. Along the way Sgt. Cornell Houston was shot in the leg and then a brief time later he was shot in the chest by a sniper, a fatal wound he died from later in Germany.  At another location 10th Mountain soldiers were forced to leave the protection of their APC by a Malaysian driver who refused to go any further.  One of those forced out was Pvt. James Martin who was shot in the head as he moved toward the crash site.

0520

With much difficulty the QRF and Rangers extract bodies 

from Wolcott crash site and prepare to move back to the 

airport.

[In this incident, as often happens in fatal crashes or structural collapse scenarios, the living and the dead were pinned, some worse than others, in the wreckage. When time is critical and immediate recovery essential it may be necessary to make some very difficult decisions. During the San Francisco earthquake, an elevated roadway collapsed crushing cars and people under it. In recovering one survivor, a small child who was pinned under his deceased mother’s body, it was necessary to cut the mother’s body in half to get the child out. The collapse of the Hyatt Regency in Chicago a number of years ago pinned several people under tons of concrete. Several field amputations were required just to extract the living and the dead. The rescuers in Mogadishu faced similar difficult decisions. [One of the medics on the recovery team says, “The task [of pulling a trapped body out of a wreck] is one that I had never imagined myself doing. I am sure that it will be stamped on the memories of many that were there for a long time…In hindsight, I could have simply cut off the pinned leg and the body would have come out easily and relatively intact. I did not think of it at the time.]

[On the way to the Paki Stadium the rescue convoy was receiving direct fire…so they sped up…crashing through…Somali positions…The Rangers had been using the armored vehicles for cover…when the column sped up, the Rangers were left behind, exposed, and running for their lives…The Rangers bringing up the rear started running harder. They fought building to building and block to block. They were desperate to keep up with the column of rescuers now speeding away from them. The exposed soldiers later called this run for their lives the “Mogadishu Marathon.” …Captain Meyerowich dispatched 10th Mountain soldiers to fight their way back and help the Rangers, who were still running down the street to catch up with the convoy. 10th Mountain Cobra helicopters began laying down fire. About  this exit First Sergeant Mita later said, “One of my men [?Sgt Randy Ramaglia?] got shot in the neck, and I was trapped with him behind a building.” Taking advantage of the Cobra fire First Sergeant Mita and his wounded fellow soldier escaped from their trapped position and were able to join the convoy.

0545

Convoy arrives back at sports stadium.

The injured started coming in again. This time, the wounds were as much as fourteen hours old. The trapped medics had run out of IVs and wound dressing hours ago. Before long, there were forty more injured soldiers needing treatment.

“It was a madhouse,” remembers Liles. “We had Pakistani and Malaysian soldiers getting in our way. Everyone was trying to help. Sometimes we had to ask people to leave.”

“God, there were a lot of wounded guys lying around,” remembers Captain Meyerowich, “the real slap in the face occurred when I looked to my left and saw the dead bodies lying there. They weren’t even covered yet.”

That’s the scene that stays with me more than anything, the rearguard trooper told me. “They had bodies of the KIA on top of the APCs and all the wounded were being offloaded…. The rotor wash blew the bag off one of the guys. He was very young looking. He had a peaceful look on his face. Then I noticed the whole top of his head was gone.”

Sgt Goodale, his pants cut off, lay in the middle of the stadium looking up at the clear blue sky.  Even though it was sunny and at least 90 degrees, the wounded Ranger was suddenly chilled to the bone.  He started shaking.  One of the doctors gave him some hot tea. Half-naked he was stone white and shivering.  A nurse covered him with a blanket and tucked it around him.

“Soldiers were seen crying with each other, especially when the names of dead comrades began to be confirmed.”

A total of eighteen young men died in the Mogadishu raid and seventy-three were wounded.  The Somali toll has been estimated at nearly five hundred dead and more than a thousand wounded.

Oct 4 - 

U.S. President Bill Clinton orders 5,300 more 



troops, warships and AC-130 "Spectre" gunships to 


Somalia.

Oct 7 - 

Clinton announces he is reinforcing U.S. task 



force, narrowing their mission and setting a 



deadline of March 31 for the withdrawal of U.S.




forces from Somalia.

Oct 14 - 

Aideed militiamen release Durant and Nigerian.

Nov 16 - 

UN Security Council calls off hunt for Aideed.

Nov 26 - 

UN conference on Somali billed as last chance 



for peace opens in Ethiopia but is boycotted by 



main warlords.

March 2 1994 -
Somali factions meet in Cairo to discuss formation 


of central government. Aideed refuses to attend.

March 14 - 
UN opens peace talks to bring peace to Kismayu.

March 17 - 
Self-styled president Mohammed Ali Mahdi and arch-


foe Aideed meet for the first time in a year in 



Nairobi.

March 24 - 
Aideed and Ali Mahdi sign a cease-fire pact.

March 28 - 
U.S. mission formally ends. On the same day two 



Indian UN peacekeepers are shot dead in a bandit 


attack.

April 18 - 
$3.9 million stolen from UNOSOM main compound.

Sept 30 - 
Security Council renews Somali mandate for one 



month despite strong protests from the United 



States.

Nov 4 - 

Security Council orders withdrawal by next March 



31.

Jan 2 1995 - 
Former President Mohammed Siad Barre dies.

Jan 22 - 

French aid worker Rudy Marq is freed after five 



weeks of captivity in Mogadishu. Several foreign 



aid workers were kidnapped in Somalia last




year but all were freed unharmed.

Feb 9 - 

Italian television cameraman in Mogadishu is 



killed in an ambush blamed on a "banana war" 



between rival gunmen as Western naval forces build




up strength off the Somali capital.

Feb 28 - 

Some 1,800 U.S. Marines and 400 Italian troops 



storm ashore onto Mogadishu's beaches to cover the 


withdrawal of a rearguard of 1,500 Pakistani 



troops at the start of Operation United Shield 



backed by a 32-ship flotilla and air support. UN 


Special Envoy Gbeho leaves Mogadishu and UNOSOM 



commander hands over to U.S. Marine Lieutenant-



General Tony Zinni. Two Italian aid workers are 



kidnapped in north-central town of Garoowe.

March 1 - 
Mayhem erupts at Mogadishu airfield after UN 



troops abandon the outer perimeter and hundreds of 


gunmen and looters invade. A U.S. marine shoots 



and kills a Somali gunman after he fires a rocket-


propelled grenade towards U.S. lines.

March 2 - 
Evacuation winds up.

QUESTIONS

1. Using either only the data that is presented in this workbook or actual casualty data answer the following questions: 

a. What was the anatomic distribution of the wounds?

b. What is the usual anatomic distribution of combat wounds (i.e. what percent head/neck, chest, abdomen, upper extremity, and lower extremity)?

c. What was the etiology of the wounds (i.e. what kinds of weapons caused the wounds)? 

d. What percentages of combat wounds do fragments typically cause, what percent are caused by bullets, what percent are caused by blast and burn?

2. The incidence of wound infections appears to have been somewhat high among casualties of the Mogadishu raid. 

a. What are some of the factors that may have contributed to this relatively high incidence of infections?

3. Combat Load weights is always a consideration. Use the information provided in this exercise and any other available sources to answer the following questions:

a. What was the estimated weight of all of the equipment carried by U.S. soldiers during the raid on Mogadishu? 

b. What is the recommended combat load weight? 

c. What items should soldiers carry and in what relative quantities? 

d. During the Mogadishu raid were there any consequences associated with being heavily weighted down?  Describe them.

4. During the Mogadishu raid a number of men were wounded or killed while trying to render medical care or perform medical evacuation. Answer the following questions from an ethical, morale, and operational perspective:

a. What could have been done to minimize casualties inflicted while attempting to render aid? In answering this question consider the following:

i. Training issues, 

ii. Equipment issues

iii. Impact of the Ranger Creed on decision making regarding body recovery and provision of care to mortally wounded soldiers. 

iv. Impact of the physical fitness of both the rescuer/care provider and of the casualty. Would things have been different had the level of fitness been more or less?

5. Rarely during peacetime situations is an accurate medical assessment as critical as the assessment of Ranger Blackburn (the Ranger who fell while fast roping). The medical assessment of this patient impacted directly on decisions that affected mission accomplishment and lead to the death of at least one soldier. It also may have been instrumental in the survival of Ranger Blackburn. Consider the impact on the whole operation of the medical assessment of Ranger Blackburn and the medic’s recommendation that he be MEDEVAC’d as rapidly as possible then answer the following questions:

a. How many casualties resulted from this MEDEVAC decision? 

b. What additional training and skills might be helpful to a medic who is called upon to make such a recommendation? 

c. Under similar circumstances what factors would you take into consideration to allow you to make your best recommendation and, ultimately, to allow you to live with whatever outcome may result?

6. After his fall, 18 y.o. Pvt. Todd Blackburn was unconscious and bleeding from the nose and ears. He apparently had a closed head injury with a Glasgow coma scale of approximately 6 and a fractured left hip. An oropharyngeal airway was placed and an IV was started. During the initial portion of his evacuation Blackburn was drug across the ground with the medics “trying to keep his neck straight.” During the evacuation one of the medics held Blackburn’s IV with one hand, firing his rifle with the other as they made their way out of the city. Based on this information answer the following questions:

a. What is the Glasgow coma scale and what exactly does a score of “6” mean in terms of Blackburn’s condition?

b. Based upon Blackburn’s mechanism of injury and his Glasgow coma score, what was his probability of survival (don’t just guess, this information is available)?

c. Blackburn’s case exemplifies the dilemma of fluid administration in head injured patients.  List the reasons in favor of giving Blackburn a couple of liters of IV fluids and the reasons why not to do so.  How difficult do you think it might be to accurately administer specific quantities of IV fluids in this kind of situation – how difficult might it be just to keep an IV functional? If your goal was to administer very little fluid while still having IV access how might this have been accomplished?

d. Comment on the ways in which a patient having an IV might impede his evacuation (don’t just limit yourself to this scenario).

e. Obviously a fall from this height makes c-spine injury a real possibility.  Under the circumstances do you think this patient was managed appropriately? If not, what would you have done differently?

7. During this raid decisions were made regarding the recovery of dead and obviously mortally wounded soldiers. Think about the ethical, moral(e) and tactical issues involved in these decisions and answer the following questions: 

a. What impact does knowing that you won’t be left behind, either alive or dead, have on the fighting spirit and morale of the troops? 

b. What was the “cost” associated with the decisions that were made to recover the dead and/or mortally wounded during this raid?

c. What are the issues involved in treating casualties who have injuries that are obviously not compatible with life i.e. use of blood and other limited supplies? 

d. What is the morale and psychological impact(s) associated with the handling of dead team members?

8. A number of soldiers in this raid who ultimately died of their wounds were conscious for a period of time prior to their death. Use the description of their initial behavior in this exercise and any personal experience you may have with mortally wounded people to help answer the following questions [Consider the case of Sgt Ruiz who was shot in the chest - what did he say about his condition? How was he acting shortly after being wounded, and what was his outcome?]:

a. How well does the initial appearance of wounded soldiers correlate with the severity of their wounds? 

b. How well can a wounded soldier predict the severity of his own wounds? 

c. What is the usual appearance and behavior of patients in shock in moderate or severe shock?

d. Describe the physiology of shock - effect on blood pressure, pulse pressure, heart rate, etc… 

e. How is the response of young and very physically fit people to massive blood loss different from that of older, less fit, people? 

f. What position do patients who have sustained chest trauma and are having some difficulty breathing prefer to assume? Should you ever force such patients to lie flat on a backboard/litter? 

g. Describe briefly the anatomy and physiology associated with breathing and the impact that changes in position have on the mechanics of respiration.

9. The use of body armor clearly saved the lives of several of the special operations troops on this raid who were shot or hit by fragments. Using the information provided in this exercise and any other sources of information to which you have access answer the following questions:

a. The Rangers wore specialized body armor with removable ceramic plates and they wore their Kevlar helmets. How much does Ranger body armor weigh without plates

b. How much do the ceramic plates for the Ranger body armor weigh?

c. How much does the Kevlar helmet weigh? 

d. What level of protection do the soft body armor, the ceramic plates, and the Kevlar helmet afford? Will they stop bullets, flechettes, knives, or fragments and do they provide any protection against blast injury? 

e. Of the following, what is the primary (most commonly complained of) problem with body armor? 

i. It is too heavy 

ii It is too hot 

iii. It is too stiff/bulky

f. What are the differences between the specialized Ranger body armor and the standard issue body armor? 

g. Why do the Ranger’s use different body armor? 

h. According to COL(ret) Hackworth a decision was made to not use the “bullet-proof” backplate of the Ranger body armor because of the extra weight. If such a decision was made, was it a wise one and if so, why (or why not)?*

i. Did the use of body armor likely decrease or increase the number of living wounded and why?

j. What effect does body armor have on the distribution of wounds and what impact does this changed pattern of wounds have on the type of care and type and amount of medical supplies that need to be available?

*[Conversations with a variety of people, including both those who were on the raid and those who are involved in the development, fielding, and evaluation of body armor indicate that the body armor that the special operations forces were using in Somalia was not designed to use a bullet-proof, ceramic armor back-plate although one could be added externally. The “decision” (right or wrong) not to include a ceramic backplate was made during the design process, not on the ground in Somalia - Answer the question as if there had actually been a decision on the ground to not use the back-plate].
10. Although an off-shore breeze was blowing and the humidity was relatively low it was still very hot (90-100 oF) when the raid began. Even into the night it remained hot with the temperature only dropping to 90oF. The whole area was very dry and dusty. Based upon what you know about the raid (from this exercise and from other sources) answer the following question:

a. What was (or might have been) the impact of environmental conditions in Mogadishu on the following:

i. Casualty production

ii. Evacuation

iii. Soldier/leader physical and mental performance

iv. Health (wound infections, respiratory problems, ocular problems, etc…).

11. Medical resources were limited both on the raid and, less so, at the medical treatment facilities. Sustained combat operations without the ability to resupply and evacuate led to essential resources (such as IV fluids and dressings) running out. Based upon this information answer the following questions:

a. What is the purpose of an IV and, in a combat zone, who do you think should get one - justify your answer. 

b. How much does a one liter IV bag weigh? 

c. If the medical treatment facility had limited oxygen, to which types of patients should they have given oxygen and why? 

d. How many c-collar(s) should you carry and on what types of patient(s) should you use it/them?

12. According to one source, one of the wounded soldiers was over-medicated with morphine. Based on this case and your understanding of the pharmacology of morphine and of other types of analgesic medications answer the following questions:

a. List the effects of morphine overdose. 

b. What factors that may lead to morphine overdose (both in this case and in others) 

c. How the risk of morphine overdosage can be minimized. 

d. Which types of patients are at greatest risk for morphine overdose? 

e. How common is moderate-to-severe pain in the seriously wounded (what percentage of seriously wounded complain of mod-to-severe pain)? 

f. What are the factors that contribute to the perceptions of pain? 

g. What are the pharmacological and non-pharmacological pain control options that may be available in a combat situation?

13. During the Mogadishu Raid one soldier was killed by an RPG that embedded itself in his chest but did not explode. Based on the information that is provided in this exercise and upon your knowledge of military munitions from other sources answer the following questions:

a. How should casualties with known or suspected unexploded munitions in their bodies (living and deceased)be handled?

b. What are the risks from unexploded munitions and how can you minimize them? 

c. Does it make any difference what type of unexploded munitions it is and if so why? 

d. What is the difference between a “dud” and an unarmed warhead? 

e. Roughly, what is the effective casualty producing radius of a 40mm grenade? 

f. How should casualties (and their equipment) who present to forward medical treatment facilities with explosive materials (handgrenades, claymore mines, LAWs, 40mm grenades, C-4, blasting caps, etc…) attached to their bodies or evacuated with them be handled. 

g. What should be done with explosives that are removed from these patients? 

h. What should be done before the operation to be prepared for providing care to heavily armed wounded soldiers?

14. One type of combat environment (desert/urban/clan or tribal) is described in this case. Think about the impact of the Mogadishu environment (climatic, developmental, cultural) on the type of fighting, the type of weapons employed, and the types of injuries incurred and answer the following questions:

a. How does differences in combat environments (urban vs. rural, open vs. constrained, offensive vs. defensive, jungle vs. desert, etc…) change the types of weapons that are commonly employed and how does that affect the types of wounds that might occur? For example, weapons systems used in jungle environments are different from those used in the desert and produce different types of wounds - what are those differences?

15. Communications problems occur in almost all combat operations and the Mogadishu raid was no exception. Think about what communications devices were available and about the urban environment and answer the following questions:

a. What factors may have contributed to communications problems in Mogadishu?

b. What kinds of things can be done to help minimize communications problems? 

c. What kinds of skills, knowledge, and information does a medic need to efficiently initiate, coordinate, and perform MEDEVAC and describe why such skills, knowledge, and information are so critical to patient survival.

16. One of the evacuation vehicles arrived at the CCP (casualty collection point) loaded with  casualties and medical attention was quickly turned to one apparently (but not) seriously wounded and screaming casualty. Another casualty, SGT Blackburn, the seriously injured Ranger who had fallen more than 40 feet and sustained an apparently life-threatening closed head injury lay quietly among the other injured. Use this scenario the answer the following questions:

a. What does this incident say about sorting casualties in combat?

b. Are there any other circumstances in which attention may be diverted to patients who appear to be the more serious but who are not? 

c. What does it mean, from a physiologic perspective, when a person is screaming out in pain and asking for pain medications? 

d. What are the considerations that should be made when transporting casualties who have been thrown into the back of a tactical vehicle without a medical attendant. 

e. If you were placing wounded and dead casualties in the back of a truck during combat, based upon their wounds, where would you place them and in what positions? 

17. Consider that you are one of the medics who were on this raid and you have arrived back at the airfield. A couple of soldiers in your unit come to you to have some “minor” wounds evaluated and treated. Both of them wish to be quickly “patched up” so that they can get back into the fighting. The doctors are very busy resuscitating seriously wounded patients so you don’t want to bother them. 


The first patient, PFC Carlson, has a bloody, “shredded” appearing, fairly deep 6 cm laceration, on the extensor surface of his left arm. The wound is dirty and it is deep enough that you can see muscle fascia. There is some venous oozing but no arterial bleeding. PFC Carlson reports that he has normal sensation and can move his fingers, and hand without difficulty or serious pain. PFC Carlson indicates that he sustained this laceration when an RPG exploded nearby.  He denies any other injuries or problems except a persistent ringing in his ears.


The second patient is SFC Howe’s wounded team member. Cutting away the wounded man’s uniform had revealed a small hole in his back, with a swollen, bruised ring around it.  There was almost no blood. It has been ten minutes since the patient was struck by a fragment from an exploding RPG.  At the time SFC Howe had told the patient, “You’re good to go.” The patient denies any real pain but does admit to some slight shortness of breath. Patient denies any other injuries or problems. 


Use the information provided in this scenario to answer the following questions:

a. What further information would you like to have to help you make a decision in each of these patients? 

b. If you had no other information available to you how would you disposition these patients? 

c. How would you treat/disposition these two soldiers? [Remember, both of these soldiers want to return to duty and there is a serious need to maintain combat power. Include in your discussion general information as to what factors should be considered when making return to duty decisions (both medical and non-medical factors]

18. Jamie Smith sustained a GSW to his groin/upper thigh that severed his femoral artery/vein just at/above the inguinal ligament. This type of wound has a very high mortality even in a major trauma center.  Direct pressure was apparently insufficient to control the bleeding.  In an effort to get control of the bleeding an SF medic bluntly extended the wound opening with his fingers and attempted, without success, to find and clamp the bleeding vessels.  Smith was not given any morphine because of concern that it would further lower his blood pressure and compound his shock.

a. Describe what happens physiologically in a patient such as this that favors hemorrhage control (hemostasis) and what factors favor increased bleeding? What are reasonable and appropriate options that might help facilitate hemorrhage control in such circumstances? What might you try to do to control bleeding in such a situation?

b. Describe the anatomy of the external iliac artery/vein and proximal femoral artery and vein.  Describe the anatomic factors that make it difficult to obtain hemorrhage control in these vessels in this area.

c. Do you feel that, as a last ditch measure, attempting to extend the wound and to find and clamp bleeding vessels would be a reasonable and appropriate action in a circumstance such as this.  Do the potential benefits outweigh the inherent risks?  What are the risks?

d.  Would you withold morphine in this patient?  If so, why?  If not, why not? 

Additional Questions for extra credit

1. Describe the ways in which the UH-60 helicopter is designed to reduce crew injury during a helicopter crash.

2. There were several instances of “friendly fire” during the Mogadishu raid.  It is unknown if any of the casualties were caused by “friendly fire.”  What is approximately the “typical” percent of casualties caused by “friendly fire” during modern combat?

3. PFC Carlson was wearing goggles that were apparently on his helmet not his eyes when an RPG exploded nearby and blew the goggles off his helmet.  It is unknown whether PFC Carlson suffered any fragmentation injuries to eyes in that explosion but it is certain that his goggles, positioned as they were on his helmet, did not offer any ocular protection.  What percent of modern combat injuries involve the eyes?  Describe the level of ocular protection that is afforded by 2.5 – 3 mm of polycarbonate.  List some reasons why soldiers might not wear protective eye wear even if it was available.

4. What is the difference between “cover” and “concealment.”  List at least two different examples from this exercise that graphically demonstrate the difference between these two terms.

5. Sgt Goodale had been shot through the thigh and buttocks and had a large soft tissue injury.  Back at the “Paki” Stadium he “suddenly became very chilled.”  Based upon what you know about physiology and the body’s response to hemorrhage and fear postulate why Sgt Goodale became “chilled to the bone.”

Lt. Bob Mabry’s (formerly Sgt Mabry’s) Comments about his experiences as a medic on Task Force Ranger

I was an 18D with 5 years of experience, EMT-P, ACLS, DMT, ATLSX4, etc.  I was the senior medic on the SAR aircraft along with 2 PJ’s and a squad of Rangers. We [fast] roped into the first crash site to recover the wounded and the KIA.

“Body armor obviously attenuated [or prevented] many wounds, but bullets can get under it so you need to look”

“No serious [surviving] wounds to thorax and head”

“Saw Rangers take hits in ceramic plates, get up, and return fire.”

“We do not train nor expect to sit on casualties for 10-15 hours. If I had Rocephin, I would have given it. I think it would have been a good idea to consider an easy to give, piggy-back IV, IM or PO therapy for contaminated wounds…”

“I saw first…hand [a number of men wounded or killed while trying to render medical care or perform medical evacuation]. In hindsight, this could have been avoided by moving the wounded directly into a building. We had anticipated a fairly rapid extraction by vehicle and had planned to establish the CCP in relation to the downed AC so the wounded could be easily loaded. The [planned] CCP was in a fairly open spot. By the time we figured out we were going to be there for awhile, it was difficult to move casualties without being exposed to fire. When we tried to move the wounded into a house, we took more casualties. We ended up waiting until dusk to move. The lesson learned was to establish the CCP in the most secure and accessible are ASAP and delay all but immediate life saving treatment until you get there. A generic location can be planned…but look for a better spot when you get there.”

“Some sort of “Heplock” type device, where you could secure IV access in a well compensated, wounded patient, while good veins were available, might be useful. This would also allow for IV access of antibiotics or pain meds. If the patient showed signs of decompensation…he could then be given enough fluids to keep him at some [appropriate] therapeutic end point…”

“We are taught as medics to fear morphine. When I went to the [18D] course, if you gave your patient a .0001 mg of morphine in a trauma scenario, the instructor would tell you your patient’s respirations are now four per minute and ask, “What are you going to do?” This may be the case in an 80-year-old COPD patient, but is very unrealistic in a healthy young person. I have also had physicians blow a gasket when I told them that I give morphine IVP in the filed without a cardiac monitor.


Morphine is the best analgesic we have as medics for severe pain. It has a rapid onset and is readily reversible. IM is unreliable and poorly controlled, especially with the [syrettes]. I have given 15 mg of IV morphine along with 60 mg of Toradol and had it barely take the edge off pain associated with GSW’s and fractures. The Tubexes work well. In Somalia I lost my syringe and had to make due without it. I carried an extra in my pocket after that.


I have used Toradol IM and IV for moderate pain and had it work well. This is a great drug because there is no CNS depression. If had to pick two to carry it would be these.


Most of the wounded did not complain of pain initially. It took an hour or two for the adrenaline to wear off and the pain to set in. I think by treating the pain aggressively up front, it is easier to manage in the long run.”

Observations and Recommendations

1) Address the mass casualty scenario in 18D training. This classroom exercise is an excellent idea. I would also include a specific talk on how to wade into a mess and sort it out i.e. don’t rush over to the screaming guy covered with blood. He has an airway and is breathing. Go to the one slumped over in the back of the truck or the unconscious one. How do you organize a CCP for efficiency, for monitoring patients over an extended period of time or for rapid evac? How do you prioritize and adjust treatment according to the tactical situation.


Following that talk, I would conduct a field exercise to build confidence, not destroy it. We experienced the infamous “Night of the Caprine”, when I went through the course, where several unconscious severely wounded patients had to be dealt with. This is not a realistic situation. Instead, I would have 1-2 severely wounded patients, 2-4 moderate wounds (GSW with fractures for example) and 2-3 with minor wounds (shrapnel or soft tissue injuries). Animals do not have to be used. A “Mr. Hurt” mannequin could be used for the severe patient and live bodies used for the rest. I think this is more realistic anyway. The animals are great, but they have their limitations…If animals are used, I would also include several dead animals. I have done this in the past and it really drive home the point of “look, listen, and feel” I think you will be surprised at the number of dead animals that get treated.”

“Medics should be competent and confident with the use of parenteral antibiotics and analgesics. Don’t be stingy with morphine, Valium, Toradol, etc…?

“The fluid issue is in transition. There are still many who will argue that 2 large bore IV’s is the only way to go. I don’t think so. Most of the wounds in Somalia were extremity trauma and most of them did fine without lots of fluid. I thing most of the historical data is the same. Colloids need to be talked about. The Brits love Hespan. What about blood in the field? I thought about it. If you had a couple of type compatible teammates, would it be worth it? A transfusion set is lighter than the equivalent 1-1 1/2 liter of fluids.


An attitude change needs to take place as well. Commanders always want IV training. It is sexy stuff; “Good medical training.” It has its place, but I think it is overemphasized…In Somalia I “fought how I trained,” and wasted fluids on people who didn’t need them.”

4) Equipment. Somebody needs to replace the M-5 bag. A bag that is easier to carry and work out of needs to be developed. The M-5 bag virtually explodes once you open it. It is difficult to close and move with and is uncomfortable to carry. For the SAR mission anyway, it doesn’t carry enough. The PJ’s at the 24th STS at Pope have one that is pretty well made. I have seen a huge Gortex medical ruck the Rangers and other used to get issued. It is too big. There has to be a better way. The new “Schoolhouse” would be a great place to develop this kind of stuff.”

5) MAST trousers. I know they are a pain to carry, but several people died of GSW’s to the pelvis. They help to prevent shock and can also stabilize femur and pelvic fractures. They were used with good results on two patients that I know of. I am not saying that every SF medic needs to carry them, but they are a good piece of kit and should be given consideration.”

6) Ninety-five percent of what I did treatment wise was primary / secondary survey, bandages and splints and IV’s. No ET tubes, cutdowns or chest tubes. I do not mean to de-emphasize these important procedures, but only to say most of the management was fairly simple. Most of it was Boy Scout First Aid. However, much of the treatment was given in the dark. Many of the IV’s were started in the dark with a pinhole in a red chem light. I thin we did this in the [18D] course but I do not remember. Anyway, it would be helpful for the students to develop some confidence in assessment and treatment with nods or very little light…”

Comments / Answers from Bart Bullock, SF medic, who took care of Ranger Blackburn and other casualties on 3 October

Body Armor:  Everyone wore their unit issued body armor.  Some people wore the

plates, and some didn’t.  Obvious advantage - it stops direct hits.

Disadvantage - it slows a person with extra weight and bulk, and it is hot.

Casualty Recovery: There was no specific training for recovery.  I know the

people in my unit knew the basic carries, but there was no elaborate systems

employed or carried on the missions.  If you had a casualty, he was just shot

(probably where he was lying), so you didn’t want to stay around that spot

very long.  The guys I moved were dragged, pulled, or pushed to some protected

area.

At the first crash site, I do know of one instance where a group of people on

one side of an alley tried to push a piece of tin roofing across to the other

side to pull a wounded soldier back across the alley.  The plan was to tie a

rope to the tin sheet, push it across the alley, the group on that side would

load the casualty onto the tin, and the other side would then pull him across

the danger area.  The empty tin was shot-up on the way across - needless to

say, that plan didn’t work.

In training we constantly "took casualties" so when the real thing happened,

we were as prepared as well as could be expected.  Medics have to be very

proactive in training to ensure their commanders incorporate casualties into

the scenarios.  Many times that is a low priority to a commander, but it has

to be addressed.  As always, train for the worst case scenario.  Also,

everyone I worked with could competently perform primary and secondary

surveys.

I tried to think about some different recovery means afterwards, but never

really came up with anything.  If a troop is hit, he needs to be recovered

ASAP, and there is no faster way than to run out and drag him to a protected

area under covering fire.

Casualty Treatment:  As far as I know, the casualties were treated to the best

of the attending medic’s ability with the material he had.   The staff at the

receiving hospital can tell you more about how they arrived at their facility.

Their AARs all complimented the packaging of the casualties.

The casualties I treated were all very cooperative.  I was the primary care

provider for some, and others came to "my courtyard CCP" already self/buddy

treated.  The ones who were seriously wounded and needed it were given

morphine.  They couldn’t walk or fight anyway.  Others who were still able to

fire their rifles were given injectable Toradol, if needed.  I explained to

them all that we may very well be in for a long stay, and everyone needed to

be able to fight and move without being "under the influence". I never saw any

excessive screaming or psych cases.

Environment:  It was hot.  People were dehydrated and without water.  I don’t

believe there were any true heat casualties.  We all had cramps, but there

were more important things to think about at the time.  I never heard of any

problems with the helicopters’ lifting capabilities.

IV’s/C-Collars:  I carried six liters of Ringer’s, two c-collars, assorted

bandages, SAM splints (great devices for keeping limbs together),

miscellaneous instruments, an airway kit, and drugs.  Everyone in my unit had

a 500ml bag w/set up kit of Ringer’s, and a couple syrettes of morphine.  To

the best of my knowledge, most of them had their IV’s with them that day.

Explosive Ordnance:  I don’t know of any particular medical problems with

explosive ordnance in the field, other than the fact that a whole bunch of

RPG’s were casualty producers.  There were some grenades thrown, too.  No true

serious primary blast injuries.

Communication:  Commo was pretty busy that day.  It was not really a medical

issue with evacuation because we couldn’t get anything to us anyway.

Concerning PVT Blackburn. I won’t go into great detail about how I ended up

where he was, but I was on the scene when he hit the street.  Goode, the

Ranger medic, was trying to start an IV when I got there. I looked at

Blackburn, and he was already starting to posture (GCS about 5).  Initial

survey - he had an airway and was breathing, no gross bleeding, but he was in

the middle of an intersection.

The Somalis were starting to move in, so we moved him out of the intersection

and behind a vehicle.  I told Goode to put a C-collar on Blackburn and put in

a J-tube, while I finished the IV.  We waited for a vehicle - which never

came.  There was no choice but to move him to the vehicles, so I grabbed his

vest under the upper back and tried to support his head/neck as well as

possible on my forearms while we moved him.

When we got to the vehicles, I told LTC McKnight the serious condition

Blackburn was in, and explained that we did not have the equipment or place to

deal with such a casualty.  The target area was still under our control at

that time, so the decision was then made to evacuate him back to the airfield.

Of course the vehicles ran into an ambush, and Pilla was killed.

The point I’m trying to make is that you have to make the call according to

the situation at that moment with the information you have.

My Lessons Learned:

· Train for the worst case scenario.  If feasible, always include casualty

play into training. Play the devil’s advocate with the scenarios.  If you have

to get in the commander’s face (lawfully, of course)  to get it done - do it!

· Make sure everyone on your team can perform a primary and secondary survey.

It may be you they’re doing it on someday.

· The basics save lives.  ABCs and common sense really work, and will keep

casualties alive.

· Move the casualty to some kind of protection before working on him.  He just

got hit there, so don’t get tunnel vision on treating him there.

· Always keep bandage material and an airway readily accessible on your body -

in a cargo pocket, or any pouch you can access quickly.  If you can plug a

hole immediately, and maintain the airway - you’ve  bought him time until you

can move to protection and render precise care.

· Know your weapons and shoot them well.  An SF medic is another gun in the

fight, until someone gets hurt then you’re a gun and a medic.  You may very

well find yourself alone with casualties in a hot area because people forget

about you and go ahead.  If possible always grab someone for security.

· Keep readily accessible some bandage material, scissors, an airway,

flashlight and anything else you may need to stop the bleeding and keep an

airway open.  These items should be in a cargo pocket or a pouch you can

access easily.

Tables and Figures from Bob Mabry (pending publication)

TABLE II

BATTLE OF THE BLACK SEA TOTAL US CASUALTIES

                                                                             NUMBER                      PERCENT
KILLED IN ACTION
   


14                                  11.2%

DIED OF WOUNDS




4                                     3.2%

WOUNDED IN ACTION 



58                                   46.4%

CARDED FOR RECORD ONLY


49                                   39.2%

TOTAL



       

125                                100%

KIA Rate (KIA/KIA+DOW+WIA)

 
18.4%

DOW Rate (DOW/DOW+WIA)

              6.4%

WIA/KIA Ratio



      
4.1 / 1

Note:  KIA and WIA Rates do not include the CRO category.

TABLE III

PERCENTAGE OF WOUNDED WHO DIED BY CONFLICT

War





Number

   Percent of Wounded 










Who Died
Spanish American War

1,600


         7


WW I (excluding gas)


153, 000

 
                     8


WW II




599,724


       4.5

Korea




77,788


       2.5

Vietnam


 

96,811


       3.6


Desert Storm (7th Corps)
          3


       2.1


British in Northern Ireland       86


       4.8

Somalia


               4


       6.4
TABLE VII

WOUND INFECTIONS

	MECHANISM
	INJURY
	TIME TO SURGERY

(hours)
	HOSPITAL BED DAYS
	COMMENTS

	GSW
	III-B fracture of tibia and fibula.
	Unknown.             < 6
	119
	Polymicrobial infection, malunion.

	RPG Blast
	Large soft tissue defect to popliteal fossa.
	6.5 hours
	86
	Gangrene, scar fibrosis, seroma.

	GSW
	Open femur fracture, testicular avulsion.
	22.5
	87
	Pseudomonas.

	GSW
	Near amputation of thumb.
	Unknown.            > 6
	80
	Gangrene extensive reconstruction.

	GSW
	Open wound to forearm with neurovascular injury.
	No surgery in Somalia.
	54
	Forearm contracture, median nerve injury.

	GSW
	III-B tibia fracture.
	19
	52
	

	GSW
	III-B tibia fracture.
	17
	48
	Malunion.  Peroneal nerve injury.

	GSW
	III-B fracture of tibia and fibula.
	5
	> 11 days total unknown.
	Post op infection.

	Helicopter Crash
	Open femur fracture.
	11 days
	22
	Pseudomonas.  Held as prisoner for 11 days.

	GSW
	Soft tissue injury of upper arm.
	No surgery in Somalia.
	9
	

	GSW
	Open wound to flank with fracture of ilium.
	18
	8
	Retained foreign body.

	GSW
	Major soft tissue injury to wrist.
	14
	6
	Retained foreign body.

	RPG fragment
	Soft tissue injury of knee and patellar tendon.
	No surgery in Somalia.
	6
	

	GSW
	Open fracture of ankle.
	25
	5
	Wound abscess, cellulitis.

	Multiple RPG fragments.
	Multiple soft tissue injuries, open fracture of metatarsals.
	21
	5
	Wound abscess, cellulitis.

	GSW
	Soft tissue wound to back.
	No surgery in Somalia.
	2
	


	TABLE VI

EXTREMITY INJURIES

Minor Soft Tissue(



          31

Major Soft Tissue(

         11   

   -Burns                          2              

Long Bone Open Fracture
         11

Open Fracture of the Wrist,

           Ankle, Hand or Foot     5      

Complete or Partial Amputation of Digits
            4

Closed Fractures
               3

Major Amputation (AKA)


            1

TOTAL




          68

(Required basic wound care only.

(Required operating room management.


TABLE VIII

INJURIES CARDED FOR RECORD ONLY
Fragment wounds
      
23

Ruptured Eardrums


 3

               Contusions
                2

               Minor Burns
                2

               Grazing Gunshot Wound          1

               Corneal Abrasion               1

               Broken Teeth                   1

               Sprain                         1

               Abrasion                       1

               TOTAL




35

	TABLE IX



	Relative Frequency of Bullet and Fragment Wounds (%)



	Wound
	World War I 
	World War II
	Korea
	Vietnam
	Northern Ireland
	1982 Lebanon 
	Somalia

	Bullets
	
	
	
	30
	45
	18
	55

	Fragments
	
	
	
	44
	33
	65
	31

	Other
	
	
	
	26
	22
	17
	14


TOTAL HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS ON 3-5 OCTOBER
Land mine explosion





4

Somali interpeter with tramautic amputations
1

Non-trauma admission (kidney stone, abd pain,



Abscess, cellulitis)


5 

TFR Mascal I (3 Oct)




24

TFR Mascal II (4 Oct)




36

TOTAL ADMISSIONS





70

DISPOSITION

Returned to duty (Faris, Norton)


 2

Hospital deaths





 3

Evacuation 


4 Oct






23


5 Oct






32 (Houston)


7 Oct






 2 (Leonard, Lamb)

Hospital log and medevac manifest are not correct.  Burns was pulled from the flight,  SSG Wilson and Clay Othic loaded the flight without being seen at the CSH.  Hospital log lists total evaced as 22, really was 23.

The Dark Side of Command

Excerpt from The Road Past Mandalay by John Masters – pp. 277-278


“The stretchers lay in the path itself, and in each stretcher lay a solider of 111 Brigade.  The first man was quite naked and a shell had removed the entire contents of his stomach.  Between his chest and pelvis there was a bloody hollow, behind it his spine.  Another had no legs and no hips, his trunk ending just below the waist.  A third had no left arm, shoulder, or breast, all torn away in one piece.  A fourth had no face and whitish liquid was trickling out of his head into the mud.  A fifth seemed to have been torn in pieces by a mad giant, and his lips bubbled gently.  


Nineteen men lay there.  A few conscious.  At least, their eyes moved, but without light in them.


The doctor said, “I’ve got another thirty on ahead, who can be saved, if we can carry them.”  The rain clattered so loud on the bamboo that I could hardly hear what he said.  “These men have no chance.  There’re full of morphia.  Most of them have bullet and splinter wounds beside what you can see.  Not one chance at all, sir, I give you my word of honour.  Look, this man’s died already, and that one.  None can last another two hours, at the outside.”


Very well.  I have two thousand lives in my hand, besides these.  One small mistake, on little moment of hesitation and I will kill five times these nineteen.


I said aloud, “Very well.  I don’t want them to see any Japanese.”  I was trying to smile down into the flat white face below me, that had no belly, but there was no sign of recognition or hearing, or feeling.  Shells and bombs burst on the slope above and bullets clattered and whined overhead.


“Do you think I want to do it?” the doctor cried in helpless anger.  “We’ve been fighting to save that man for twenty-four hours and then just now, in the M.D.S. (main dressing station) he was hit in the same place.”  His voice changed.  “We can’t spare any more morphia.”


“Give it to those who eyes are open,” I said.  “Get the stretcher bearers on at once.  Five minutes.”


He nodded and I went back up to the ridge for the last time.  One by one, carbine shots exploded curtly behind me.  I put my hands to my ears but nothing could shut out the sound.

I found Titch Hurst of the Cameronians on the ridge, and Douglas Larpent, the latter commanding the rear party.  I said, “Retire in five minutes.  I shall be with the first layback at the water point.”


We looked across the shallow valley where the forward sections were engaging the Japanese with sharp fire.  The fire strengthened, under Douglas’s orders.  I walked down the path, looking, but the bodies had been well hidden in the bamboo and the path was quite empty.  I muttered, “I’m sorry,” and “Forgive me,” and hurried on.

Excerpts from - “Fire in the Streets.  The Battle for Hue, Tet 1968” by Eric Hammel (Pacifica Press, Copyright 1991)

The following are excerpts, which illustrate the hazards associated with providing casualty extraction and medical care in a combat zone.  The Battle for Hue was an urban combat scenario but many of the situations described would also be applicable to other combat environments.  Many of the excerpts describe individuals who were wounded while attempting to retrieve or treat wounded comrades.  Others illustrate other medical or medical-related issues in combat.  This book is not about military medicine, it is about combat; a fact which only heightens the significance of the medical aspects of military operations. 

#1 The dangers of casualty extraction. (p. 67)

“Captain Batcheller hear the impact of a round to his left rear.  He turned and saw that a navy officer who had been accompanying La Montagne’s heavy equipment convoy had been shot in the leg. After hesitating for a split second, Batcheller stepped out from behind the protection of the lead tank and ran to the wounded man.  He bent to grab the man by the shoulders of his flak jacket and started pulling him sideways toward the tank, but a solid burst of gunfire ended the effort.  The wounded man was killed; Batcheller was hit in both legs and his right forearm.  The impact of the bullets threw Batcheller across the roadway, and he came to rest against the base of a tree…His right forearm was open from wrist to elbow, and there was a gaping hole in his right thigh.  He did not know it yet, but his right femur was shattered…By happenstance, LTC Gravel spotted [Batcheller] entangled in a roll of concertina war bordering the left side of the road…There was still sporadic fire coming from the NVA infantry column to the southwest, so Gravel ordered his driver to retrieve their jeep and maneuver it to the left edge of the road to form a protective barrier.  When it was in place, a Golf/2/5 corpsman gave Captain Batcheller a cursory medical treatment, and several Marines extricated him from the wire.  As soon as the captain was free, a Marine tried to splint his shattered right leg with the handle of a shovel…Before the splint could be secured, however, the Good Samaritan was shot through the foot. ”

#2 The impact of delayed evacuation as a result of the combat situation (p. 81)

“For several of the wounded Marines and soldiers…help came too late.  Among the latter group was Specialist 4th Class Frank Doezma, who had been seriously wounded in both legs while manning the machine gun on MACV’s watch-tower at the outset of the night attack.  Though Dr. Steve Bernie and his MACV medics kept him alive for over twelve hours, Doezma died from shock and blood loss before his medevac bird reached the triage center at Phu Bai.”

#3 The importance of understanding military munitions and exercising care when handling wounded soldiers with weapons/weapons systems (p. 85)

“As Maj. Walt Murphy, the 1/1 operations officer, and several other volunteers from the 1/1 operations section jumped off the 6X6 truck, Marines…began loading their dead and wounded comrades onto the vehicle.  Suddenly, there was a large explosion in the midst of the riflemen and the battalion staffers.  Several onlookers thought it was a B-40 blast, and someone even reported the cause as a stachel charge tossed into the crowd by an NVA sapper.  LTC Gravel thought it was a hand grenade that had fallen from the body of a dead or wounded Marine.  Whatever the source, the result was devastating.  Many Marines were wounded, Major Murphy the most seriously of all.  A spray of shrapnel had erupted upward beneath the bottom edge of his flak jacket.”

#4 The dangers of casualty extraction – and how to do it right  (p. 88)

“The enemy soldiers nearest to Bill Tant’s position outside the gate were only thirty to forty meters away.  In a flash, four or five Marines behind Tant and on the same side of the street were bowled over.  About the same number were shot as they advanced toward the gate on the other side of the street…As more and more of his comrades went down, Tant stepped behind a tree, which provided adequate cover from the sheets of bullets that were flying down the narrow road.  Corporal Lucas leaped for the same tree, but he did not make it.  As Tant looked on, Lucas fell to the roadway [seriously wounded].  Tant wanted to rescue Lucas, to pull him behind the tree, but the enemy fire was literally chipping away at his cover on both sides.  There was no way to move safely…As Bill Tant stared at Corporal Lucas’s inert form, calculating the odds of a rescue attempt, Hospitalman Donald Kirkham, one of the 1st Platoon’s two Navy Corpsmen, inched his way up the sidewalk, taking care of each of the wounded Marines he encountered along the way.  After many minutes, Kirkham reached a point opposite Corporal Lucas.  Just as he was about to move away from the relative safety of the wall to grab the wounded squad leader, Lucas, who had not moved a muscle before Kirkham arrived, motioned violently for the corpsman to stay back.  But Doc Kirkham made his move anyway – and was shot in the throat…Someone hot-wired a Vietnamese flatbed rice truck.  As Meadows ordered his men to heave or fire smoke grenades through the gate, the truck ran forward to act as a moving shield for those who were still trapped in the street.  As soon as Bill Tant was able to leave the cover of his bullet-riddled tree, he reached out to grab Corporal Glenn Lucas.  At the same moment, Lance Corporal Patrick Lucas also grabbed the wounded corporal, and he and Tant dragged him to safety.  Two Marines who had come forward with the truck grabbed Doc Kirkham, but the corpsman had already bled to death from the gaping bullet hole in his throat.  The extrication was nearly flawless and resulted in no new casualties.”

#5 Using cover to extract casualties and not everyone is dead who appears to be (p. 107-111)

Private First Class Louis Gasbarrini moved out first.  He stepped from behind the wall and scuttled down the sidewalk to the nearest tree.  Lance Corporal Charles Campbell went next, up and over the wall.  Before Campbell had hit the ground, Gasbarrini had been seriously wounded in the arm by a burst of AK-47 fire…Someone yelled, “Corpsman, up!” and Hospital Corpsman 3rd Class James Gosselin, a twenty-six-year-old former Green Beret, charged into the open from behind the wall.  He was halfway to Gasbarrini when he was shot dead in his tracks….No sooner had Doc Gosselin fallen than the NVA trained their fire on Corporal Brown; the Air Force sergeant; and Private Stanley Murdock, Brown’s radioman….Lance Corporal Carnell Poole was a few steps behind the three men when the automatic-weapons fire reached out at them.  Poole distinctly saw the stream of bullets pin Murdock to a wall at his back; the sheer force of the bullet held the radioman on his feet.  The firing stopped, but Murdock just stood there…gasping for air every few seconds…[Then] Private Murdock’s eyes glazed over and the gasping stopped,  [he was dead]. The Air Force sergeant was seriously wounded by the same burst….Most of the men made it to cover, but Corporal David Collins, Private First Class William Henschel, and Private First Class Cristobal Figueroa-Perez were shot off their feet.  When the dust settled, none of them was moving….Corporal Brown yelled to PFC Gasbarrini, who was in front of everyone.  Gasbarrini yelled back that he had been hit in the arm and that he was playing dead because he was afraid to move behind the nearest cover…It seemed…hours…before two Marine M-48 tanks…chugged toward PFC Gasbarrini.  When the lead tank pulled up even with the wall Brown was using as a sanctuary...he stepped out behind the armored vehicle and followed it warily down the right side of the street.  The tank passed Gasbarrini and stopped, a steel wall to protect the evacuation.  When Chris Brown leaned down to help the wounded man, a stream of bullets reached out toward them.  Brown felt warm fluid streak over his outstretched hands; he was certain Gasbarrini had been wounded again, but it was only water.  A round had gone through Gasbarrini’s canteen….Four of the men – Doc Gosselin, Private Murdock, Corporal Collins, and PFC Henschel – appeared to be dead.  A fifth, PFC Figueroa-Perez, appeared to be seriously injured…As the rear tank, which was also firing its .50-caliber machine gun, pulled back, a B-40 rocket streaked out…and struck it squarely on the side of the engine compartment.  Two of the bodies [that had been placed] on the rear deck…were thrown to the street.  Immediately, piercing screams erupted from one of the bodies.  Several Marines ventured back to the tank to see who it was and why.  The screaming man was PFC Henschel.  He had been shot in the head in his bid to cross [the street], and knocked unconscious.  It was no wonder his spooked comrades had mistaken him for dead; his gruesome head wound had looked fatal, and there had been no time to conduct an adequate check in the middle of [the] bullet swept [street].  When the B-40 blew Henschel off the tank, the shock of the blast apparently roused him.  A closer inspection revealed that Henschel’s left leg was missing below the knee.  No one could tell if it had been blown off by the B-40 or if the tank had backed over it…Henschel was known in Fox/2/5 as the “Marine Doc.”  Though he had no formal first aid training, he carried a Unit One aid pack, just like the Navy corpsman.  He still had it when his shocked and dazed comrades peeled him off the [street].  Its contents were used to affix a tourniquet and control the bleeding of his leg.  The head wound turned out to be superficial…After the tanks pulled back around the corner…one more absolutely motionless Marine still lay in an exposed position about twenty meters [away].  [It was] Private de la Riva-Vara.  Ever effort had been made to reach de la Riva-Vara’s body, but the tanks had been unable to shield the rescuers, and the NVA had staked it out, certain they could kill any rescuers who ventured out after it.  Lieutenant Horner had had enough.  With nothing to show for it, Fox/2/5’s 2nd Platoon had suffered fifteen casualties, of whom three were known dead, one was expected to die, and one (de la Riva-Vara) was presumed dead.  The lieutenant asked Captain Downs to please call it a day; there was no sense losing more men to rescue de la Riva-Vara’s body.  Mike Downs was not going to leave anyone behind…[he] ordered both tanks back up [the street] to cover Lieutenant Horner’s recovery of de la Riva-Vara’s body…The tanks advanced cautiously past the spot at which one of them had already been hit by a B-40…the NVA fired their AK-47s…but no more B-40’s were fired.  The tanks moved forward, and the infantrymen followed them.  As they reached de la Riva-Vara, he waved his arms a little.  He had been shot in both legs and had been cannily playing dead.  On the way back Lieutenant Horner was wounded…Later that night, all the serious casualties…, including Lieutenant Horner, were medevacked off the LZ…Before dawn, news arrived that PFC Figueroa-Perez had died of his wounds in Phu Bai’s triage center.”

#6 Problems associated with extracting casualties pinned in wreckage and debris (p. 122-123) 

“The next thing Corporal Watkins knew, he was flying though the air.  As he landed in a large crater, he thought the truck [that he had been riding in] had hit a mine.  However, the crater had been there already when the panicky driver had plowed right into it at top speed.  Watkins crawled over to the truck and saw that Lieutenant Donald Perkins, the forward observer, was pinned in the crater.  The truck’s rear wheel was on his chest.  Watkins told the lieutenant that everything would be all right but the corporal knew better.  Perkin’s chest was crushed, and there was no way to extricate him short of driving or towing the truck out of the crater….When Corporal Watkins and Corporal Pettit returned from the cab of their truck to the crater, Lieutenant Perkins was dead…It is doubtful anyone [in the convoy] knew that the…corporals were still manning the crater because a dead officer was pinned beneath their truck…There was no way they could get the lieutenant’s body out…All three corporals were slightly injured…They made one last effort to free Lieutenant Perkin’s body.  When that failed they left…Corporal Pettit [later] went back with a tank and a…fire team…[and] returned with Lieutenant Perkin’s body.”

#7 Once again, the dangers of casualty extraction (P 125-127)

“[Leading 3d Platoon, Sergeant John Maloney was struck by AK-47 fire]. As soon as Sergeant Maloney went down, Sergeant Willard Scott, the 3rd Platoon right guide, ordered the lead fire-team leader, Lance Corporal Jim Yates, to take over the squad and get Maloney out of the line of fire.  Yates was scared half to death, but he moved up.  From another location overlooking the intersection an NVA soldier opened fire.  A bullet that ricocheted off the wall struck Yates in the neck, and he went down.  Yates felt around in his neck and found the bullet lodged next to his windpipe…2nd Lieutenant Donald Hausrath…turned to Lance Corporal John Griswold and said, “Griswold, you take your fire team out there on the street and bring Sergeant Maloney back.”…”You mean by ourselves?” [said Griswold].  “Yeah,” Lieutenant Hausrath rejoined, “by yourselves.  We’ll give you support.”…Lance Corporal Griswold’s team had almost inched up to Sergeant Maloney’s body when the NVA cut loose again…Griswold finally reached the corner and grabbed a handful of Sergeant Maloney’s clothing.  Maloney was dead, and the prone fire-team leader found that he was impossible to budge.  Griswold got up on his knees and started yelling at [his team], “Get your asses up here and help me!”  [None of them jumped right in to help, but it quickly came to the point that Griswold was yelling and screaming so violently that they were more afraid of him than they were of the NVA fire.  They lurched forward…[and] grabbed a handful of Sergeant Maloney’s clothing…and Griswold and Soward hauled the dead squad leader out of the intersection.”

#8 And another example of the dangers of casualty extraction (p. 150-153)

The courtyard wall…was fairly high, and Burnham knew better than to climb over it.  So the courtyard was evacuated, and a 3.5 inch rocket was expended to create a fairly large sally port roughly in the center of the barrier.  The dust had not yet cleared when Burnham stepped through the hold…He advanced all of three or four steps and was knocked on his butt by streams of rifle and machine-gun fire.  His left foot was on fire where a bullet had gone through it but he was otherwise unscathed…Instinctively Burnham crawled through flying concrete and masonry chips and wedged himself beneath a truck parked just to the right of the hole in the wall.  From there, he yelled back, “I’m hit!” Sergeant Willard Scott, the platoon guide, told him to hang on where he was.  Five minutes later, as Burnham was wondering how long he would have to hang on, a fire team from his squad, led by Lance Corporal Wayne Washburn, emerged onto the street from around the left side of the courtyard wall and made an oblique dash for the treasury gate.  No sooner had Lance Corporal Burnham seen the four Marines than the NVA across the street poured a withering fire into them.  Right in front of the gate, Lance Corporal Washburn was shot through the head, and at least two other Marines were also wounded.  Burnham saw his opportunity.  While the NVA troops were occupied with Washburn’s fire team, the wounded squad leader crawled out from beneath the truck and bolted through the hole in the wall, between marines who were furiously firing at the treasury to suppress the NVA fire.  Seconds later, the truck was demolished by a B-40 rocket…Lance Corporal Washburn…had fallen too far forward to be safely retrieved…As soon as Burnham left the aid station [his relatively minor injuries having been patched up], he decided it was time to retrieve Lance Corporal Washburn.  Marines along the wall said they thought the fire-team leader was moving a little, so maybe his head wound had not been fatal.  There was only one way to found out, but, before Bernie Burnham could squeeze through the hole in the wall…PFC William Barnes, [a rear area mechanic who had just that day joined the unit] beat him to it.  [He] rushed straight into the fire – and was shot from his feet several meters short of Washburn.  Barnes was down and he wasn’t moving.  Now there were two dead or dying Marines in the street…[two tanks were called in but after being hit by B-40 rockets they both withdrew.}  Burnham yelled, “Cover me!” and headed right through the hole in the courtyard wall, right out into [the street] again.  Behind Burnham was Sergeant Willard Scott…For some unfathomable reason, from some unknowable impulse, the NVA were merciful.  Some fired at the two Marines, but most of them just watched.  Burnham passed PFC Barne’s dead body and pulled Lance Corporal Washburn up over his shoulder.  Then, as Scott covered him, he lumbered away to the right, toward the building next door to the courtyard in which the 3rd platoon was holed up.  Altogether, it was a fifty meter run…Once inside the building, Burnham and Scott tore a door loose from its hinges and placed Washburn on the door.  The back of the wounded man’s head had been blown out, and he was bleeding profusely, but Burnham was certain he was still alive.  To Burnham he felt alive…When Burnham and the others last saw him, the fire team leader was still alive, but he died in Phu Bai the next day.”

#9 This is one way to recover casualties – but not without risk  (p. 174)

“As the teams of Marines stepped into the open from the rear of the treasury building, an NVA soldier opened fire on them.  One Marine fell, wounded and unable to fend for himself.  Lance Corporal Roger Warren, the M-60 team leader, was also in the open.  Rather than hit the dirt, Warren fired the M-60 from his hip and advanced to the side of the wounded Marine.  The NVA soldier was still firing at the wounded man – and Lance Corporal Warren, who was also hit – but Warren continued to return the fire, using up two entire belts of M-60 ammunition before he and others quelled the NVA fire…The marine Warren had been aiding was evacuated but Warren ignored his own injuries…it would have been his third purple heart and the rule was that he would be sent home if he earned a third.”

#10  GSW to the head and casualty extraction of the obviously dead – cost/benefit issues (p. 196)

“Company C’s assault had covered about half the distance to the enemy held treeline when snipers directly ahead and within the large graveyard to the northeast began dropping individual American troopers with uncanny accuracy.  The bulk of the kills, in fact, were from head shots. Compounding the problem were the high casualties among troopers who stopped to help their wounded comrades.”

#11 Decision making regarding leaving dead and wounded behind (p. 201)

“[The 2/12 Cav sought to break out of their surrounded perimeter and the decision was made to do so at night]…eleven dead Americans remained in the perimeter.  They presented a major problem.  It was anathema for U.S. units to leave their dead on the battlefield.  In this case, however, carrying out the dead could only result in slowing the night march and adding to the chance of discover.  With extreme reluctance, the Americans decided to leave the dead behind in a temporary mass grave until an opportunity to recover them presented itself.”

#12 Response of men to combat wounds and an example of the safety mechanism of the 40mm grenade (p.203)

“As the march continued, the 2/12 Cav began to pass into exhaustion.  Troopers who had been concealing wounds to avoid medevac gave in to shock and blood loss and had to be carried.  Men who had been high on adrenaline for two days fell asleep on their feet.  During one halt, a drowsy Company D trooper fired an M-79 round into the ground.  Fortunately, the 40mm grenade did not detonate.”

#13 And another example of the dangers of casualty extraction and also how different individuals respond to injury (p. 225-227)

[A 6X6 truck carrying a load of fresh replacements passed right through the Hotel/2/5 Marine line as they awaited orders to attack into the provincial headquarters complex]  It was halfway there when the NVA opened fire on it. The truck driver immediately threw the vehicle into reverse and backed down to safety, but two of the Marines riding in the rear were left wounded in the street.  As the veterans of 2nd Lt Leo Myers’s 1st Platoon tried to figure out how to rescue the two Marines, one of the wounded men kicked himself on his back through a line of hedges.  Immediately, the nearest…Marines grabbed him and brought him to the 1st. Platoon CP.  There the platoon corpsman went to work on a sucking chest wound from which blood bubbled and foamed as the wounded Marine gasped for air…Meantime, the second wounded Marine had managed to crawl out of the center of the street and was lying at the end of a driveway in front of the 1st Platoon’s position.  He was unable to move farther.  Though the enemy fire was fierce, Lieutenant Myers called across the driveway to ask Private First Class Walter Kaczmarek to crawl out and drag the  wounded man to safety.  Kaczmarek was scared, but he knew he had to go.  He started down the driveway on his belly.  He had gone only a few meters when a bullet chipped sliver of brick struck him beneath his left eye.  It was sticking out like an arrow head.  Kaczmarek ducked back to safety, and another Marine pulled the brick chip out.  After holding the sleeve of his field jacket against his bleeding cheek for a moment, PFC Kaczmarek allowed a corpsman to treat the wound.  To Kaczmarek’s dismay, the corpsman informed him that the wound was minor.  On Kaczmarek’s second attempt…[as he] pushed the gate shut so it would hide him, a bullet penetrated the sheet metal at the bottom, just above his head…After crawling through the hedge to a point even with the wounded marine, Kaczmarek rolled out of his web belt and other jettisonable gear and dashed out through the hedge, into the open street.  All hell broke loose.  Kaczmarek dropped down next to the wounded Marine.  All the shooting stopped.  Every few moments, the wounded man yelled that he had been shot in the chest.  Each time he yelled, he trashed around.  Each time he thrashed , the NVA opened fire until he stopped.  Kaczmarek spoke to him in a calming voice, then grasped the man’s arm, jumped up, and tried to yank him through the hedge.  The victim screamed that Kaczmarek was tearing his arm off, so Kaczmarek, who was already in the hedge, let go and dropped down behind the thin cover.  It became clear in Kaczmarek’s mind that the wounded man had already been shot, and that he, Kaczmarek, had not.  He was not going to go back out into the open.  From his hiding place inside the hedge, PFC Kaczmarek reached out and grabbed the collar of the wounded man’s flak jacket.  When he was set, he jumped up and heaved the man into the hedge with both hands.  The NVA opened fire again, so Kaczmarek laid low for several moments.  As soon as the shooting died down again, Kaczmarek opened the wounded man’s flak jacket to check on the wound.  There were two holes in the collar of the flak jacket, but there was not blood.  He opened up the man’s shirt.  He still didn’t see any blood.  There were no holes in the skin.  Kaczmarek felt his temper boil.  He was so angry he grabbed the double-bit ax he carried and was about to strike the wounded man with the flat of the blade when a corpsman arrived.  The doc checked the wounded man and found that his collarbone had been shattered, no doubt when the bullet had gone into the collar of the flak jacket.”

#14 The importance of understanding the dangers of commonly used weapons systems and why wounded soldiers should be separated from their weapons. (p.233-234)

“For hours all the Marines in the cookhouse had been able to do was harass the NVA in pretty much the same way the NVA were able to harass them – by firing randomly at windows in the building across the way.  [One visitor to the Marines was] Private Louis Denny, a 60mm ammo humper, had only just stepped up to the cookhouse window when an NVA bullet penetrated his helmet and ricocheted off his skull.  Denny was knocked silly, but he was not badly hurt.  At length, a 106mm recoilless rifle was emplaced at the end of the driveway PFC Kaczmarek had tried to crawl down to rescue the wounded replacement.  The 106 was loaded and prepared to fire directly into the provincial administration building as soon as Gunnery Sergeant Frank Thomas, the Hotel/2/5 gunny, opened the gate.  Just as Gunny Thomas pulled the gate open by means of a brick affixed to a rope, Kaczmarek was stepping to the cookhouse window to take his turn firing into the administration building.  The 106 fired without the usual “Fire in the hole” warning, and the backblast caught Kaczmarek in the chest.  It threw him into the back wall of the cook house, and he was knocked unconscious for several minutes.  When [he] came to, his barely focused eyes told him that someone was learning over him.  It was the platoon doc, who was tagging Kaczmarek for evacuation.  Still stunned by the concussion, Kaczmarek assumed that the NVA had blown the cookhouse with a satchel charge and were now collecting prisoners.  He squeezed the trigger of his M-16, which was locked in his tight grip, and fired a burst of 5.56 bullets into the cookhouse ceiling.  He would have kept firing but three or four of his buddies jumped on him, effectively pinning his shooting arm.  When the last of the cobwebs lifted and Kaczmarek realized what he had done, he felt like an ass.  But no one held him to blame.  Under the circumstances, it was an error anyone could have made.”
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